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Key Management Personnel, Board of Governors and Professional Advisers 
Key management personnel 
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Michael Dixon – Assistant Principal 
Andrew Woodford – Director of Finance (unƟl 15 October 2023) 
Paul Davies – Director of Finance (from 1 February 2024) 
 
Board of Governors 

A full list of Governors is given on pages 20 to 22 of these financial statements. 
 
Mrs A Buick is Head of Governance (Clerk to the Board of Governors) 
 
Professional advisers 

Financial statements auditors and reporƟng accountants: 

Bishop Fleming LLP 
Stratus House 
Emperor Way 
Exeter Business Park 
Exeter 
EX1 3QS 
 
Internal auditors: 
 
TIAA Limited 
ArƟllery House 
Fort Fareham 
Newgate Lane 
Fareham 
PO14 1AH 
 
Bankers: 
 
Barclays Bank Plc 
Queens Square 
Wolverhampton 
WV1 1DS 
 
Solicitors: 
 
FBC Manby Bowdler LLP, George House, St. John's Square, Wolverhampton, WV2 4BZ 
Eversheds Sutherland, 115 Colmore Row, Birmingham, B3 3AL 
DAC BeachcroŌ, Tricorn House, 51-53 Hagley Road, Birmingham, B16 8TP 
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Report of the Governing Body  
NATURE, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES 

The members present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2024. 

Legal status 

The CorporaƟon was established under the Further and Higher EducaƟon Act 1992 for the purpose of conducƟng 
City of Wolverhampton College. The College is an exempt charity for the purposes of Part 3 of the ChariƟes Act 
2011. 

The CorporaƟon was established as Wulfrun College on 1 April 1993, under the Further and Higher EducaƟon Act 
1992 for the purpose of conducƟng Wulfrun College. By order of the Secretary of State for EducaƟon, the 
CorporaƟon changed its name to Wolverhampton College on 1 October 1999, which was subsequently changed to 
City of Wolverhampton College on 1 June 2001. 

On 3 June 2019, City of Wolverhampton College Enterprises Limited was incorporated with City of Wolverhampton 
College owning 100% of the Share Capital. Accordingly, the financial results for the College and Enterprises have 
been consolidated to form group financial statements.  

Mission, vision and values 

The CorporaƟon maintains responsibility for the overall college mission, vision and values which are reviewed at 
least every three years and underpinned by detailed policies and an overall strategic framework. 

Purpose 

“Defining Futures” 

Values 

The review of the strategic plan idenƟfied four key areas each with four disƟnct areas of focus: 

• Student Engagement: We Value Students 

• Student Success: We Value Success & Progression 

• Business Success: We Value our Sustainable Business 

• People Engagement: We Value Role Models 

Student Engagement encompasses MarkeƟng, Student Recruitment, Student Support Services including 
Safeguarding, Quality Assurance and Improvement and Business Learning Technologies. 

Student Success includes Curriculum Development, Right Student, Right Course, Teaching, Learning & Assessment 
and Progress & DesƟnaƟons. 

Business Success covers Financial Management, Estates, Health, Safety and Environment, Funding and Compliance 
and InformaƟon Technology. 

People Engagement incorporates Culture, Change and Wellbeing, People Development and Reward & RecogniƟon. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

Public Benefit 

City of Wolverhampton College is an exempt charity under the Part 3 of the ChariƟes Act 2011 and is regulated by 
the Secretary of State for EducaƟon as Principal Regulator for all FE CorporaƟons in England. The members of the 
Governing Body, who are trustees of the charity, are disclosed on pages 20 to 22. 

In seƫng and reviewing the College’s strategic objecƟves, the Governing Body has had due regard for the Charity 
Commission’s guidance on public benefit and parƟcularly upon its supplementary guidance on the advancement 
of educaƟon. The guidance sets out the requirement that all organisaƟons wishing to be recognised as chariƟes 
must demonstrate, explicitly, that their aims are for the public benefit. In delivering its mission, the College provides 
the following idenƟfiable public benefits through the advancement of educaƟon: 

 High-quality teaching 
 Widening parƟcipaƟon and tackling social exclusion 
 Excellent employment record for students 
 Strong support systems 
 Links with employers, industry and commerce 

Financial NoƟces to Improve 

In June 2012, the SFA (Skills Funding Agency) issued the College a Financial NoƟce to Improve (FNTI). The FNTI was 
a consequence of the College’s Inadequate SFA financial health Grade in 2010/11. Financial health is based upon 
three Key Performance Indicators, as applied to all FE colleges. 

Strong underlying financial performance in recent years, combined with repayment of commercial debt and 
restructuring of DfE debt in the College achieving Good financial health in 2022/23. The FNTI was formally removed 
on 26 April 2024. 

Financial objecƟves 

The College’s financial objecƟves are: 

 to maintain long term financial stability 
 to successfully resolve all the issues covered by the outstanding Financial NoƟce to Improve 
 to conƟnue to invest in teaching and learning resources, and the College estate to secure that stability and 

provide a first class environment for learners, staff and broader stakeholders. 

A series of performance indicators have been agreed to monitor the successful implementaƟon of the policies. 

Performance indicators 

The college measures key performance indicators that cover its key strategic objecƟves. Progress against each of 
the indicators is provided at the Board of Governors.  

The College is commiƩed to observing the importance of sector measures to appraise its performance. The College 
is required to complete the annual Finance Record for the ESFA which determines its financial health grading.  The 
Governing Body have self-assessed the College’s Financial Health as Good.  Through its purpose of ‘defining futures’, 
the College aims to provide students and apprenƟces with a high-quality educaƟon which develops a relevant set 
of skills, knowledge and behaviours that lead to sustained posiƟve desƟnaƟons and improves life chances.  The 
Governing Body is commiƩed to addressing high levels of youth unemployment and raising levels of educaƟonal 
aƩainment in Wolverhampton and surrounding areas. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

Student, apprenƟce and employer saƟsfacƟon levels remain very high. During 2023/24, 90% of students say they 
are proud to be a City of Wolverhampton student and 94% of learners state that they are happy with the quality of 
teaching and learning, and the course is meeƟng their needs.  

The College hosts its own survey for employers. 84% of respondents stated that they would recommend the 
College, with 84% of respondents staƟng that the training received prepared apprenƟces for the needs of the 
workplace.  

 Learner numbers and achievement of funding body targets 

Performance against the funding bodies’ key classroom-based contracts was as follows: 

2023/24 2022/23 

Contract Actual Contract Actual 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

16-19 (and 19-24 High Needs)* 13,661 14,333 11,836 12,029 
Adult EducaƟon Budget – ESFA 918 990 840 918 
Adult EducaƟon Budget – WMCA 14,447 14,605 9,532 9,614 

 
*Note – the actual performance is reported as per final claim documents. Over-performance for 16-19 
provision is not funded in-year but does influence funding seƩlements for future years. 

 Learner Success Rates 

Most students achieve their qualificaƟons and more do so than those in similar Colleges naƟonally. The 
proporƟon of students who achieve their qualificaƟons at the College conƟnues to be high (overall 
achievement 92.7%).  This outcome demonstrates a sustained posiƟon of high achievement rates over the last 
four years. 

 Develop a Highly Engaged and Skilled Workforce 
 

In 2023/24 staff turnover was 18.14%, below the College’s target of 22% (a 30.86% decrease on the previous 
year’s staff turnover).  Annualised sickness absence was 4.98% against an annual target of 4% (a 1.06% 
reducƟon on the previous year. 

 
 Employer Engagement 

The College conƟnues to lead in the engagement of employers in training and has been commended in its drive 
to shape the curriculum to reflect the changing requirements of employers. This is reflected in the very high 
employer saƟsfacƟon survey results quoted above. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Financial PosiƟon 

The College generated a consolidated deficit on conƟnuing operaƟons before other gains and losses in the year of 
£1,294,000 (2023: deficit £931,000) before RevaluaƟon Reserve release of £1,811,129 (2023: £187,000), with total 
comprehensive income of £1,056,000 (2023: £16,434,000). 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Surplus/(Deficit) on conƟnuing operaƟons aŌer depreciaƟon of assets at 
valuaƟon and tax 

(1,294)  (931) 

RevaluaƟon reserve release  1,811  187 
FRS 102 (28) pension adjustments (345)  1,064 
Profit on disposal -  (21) 
Restructuring Costs  188  407 
    

Historical cost surplus / (deficit) before FRS 102 pension adjustments and 
restructuring costs 

360  706 

 

As shown above, the College returned a historic cost surplus of £360,000 (2023: £706,000). 

Within 2023/24, the College incurred staffing restructuring costs of £188k (2023: £407k) relaƟng to a total of 14 
leavers (2023: 25 leavers). The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) FRS 102 valuaƟon was received from the 
Scheme Actuary in August 2024.  This resulted in a credit to the Statement of Comprehensive Income of £345k 
(2023: charge £1,064k) and actuarial gains of £2,520k (2023: £17,205k), whilst the Balance Sheet net liability was 
reduced to £nil (2023: £nil) (see note 25).  This movement is largely a result of changes in assumpƟons around 
inflaƟon and demographics.  The balance of £2,350k (2023: £17,365k) in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure includes a value of £170k (2023: £160k) relaƟng to the College’s Enhanced Pension Scheme. 

At the balance sheet date, the Group has accumulated reserves of £6,875k, (2023: (£8,684k) with an overall asset 
in respect of Local Government Pension Scheme as capped at £nil (2023: £nil), and group cash and short-term 
investment balances of £5,686k (2023: £3,833k). The College aims to accumulate reserves and cash balances to 
assure sufficient working capital and allow capacity for unforeseen events. The current raƟo of 1.92  (2023: 1.59) . 

Tangible fixed asset addiƟons during the year amounted to £1,627k (2023: £1,329k). This was split between land 
and buildings acquired of £403k (2023: £842k), and equipment purchased of £999k (2023: £435k).  Assets under 
construcƟon of £226k (2023: £52k) related to a wide range of small projects as well as the progression of the overall 
Campus TransformaƟon ambiƟons, with the College benefiƫng substanƟally from £352k of Capital Grant Funding 
from the ESFA in year. 

The College conƟnues to work closely in partnership with colleagues at Wolverhampton City Council to deliver the 
vision for the City Learning Quarter (CLQ).  Funding required to deliver the CLQ project has been secured with a 
scheduled opening date of September 2025. A new building at the Wellington Road Campus to accommodate 
Motor Vehicle and Engineering provision displaced from its current home at the Paget Road Campus, the Advanced 
Technology and AutomoƟve Centre (ATAC),  opened to learners in September 2024. The ATAC was fully funded by 
the West Midlands Combined Authority. The College’s exisƟng Paget Road campus is scheduled for disposal in the 
2025/26 academic year. Both the CLQ and ATAC projects will be transferred to the College on compleƟon and 
recognised as assets on the College’s balance sheet. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

The College has significant reliance on the educaƟon sector funding bodies for its principal source of funding, 
largely from recurrent grants. In 2023/24 FE funding bodies provided 92.3% of the College’s total income (2023: 
89.7%). 

Pension ObligaƟons 

A key element of the overall financial posiƟon of the College is the long-term affordability of its pension obligaƟons 
to employees. Successive significant increases in the College’s Local Government Pension Scheme deficit had 
resulted in significant pressure on the College’s Balance Sheet, giving rise to overall net liabiliƟes. Following the 
2023 triennial valuaƟon the College’s primary contribuƟon rate raised from 20.6% to 21.8%, with the requirement 
to make fixed secondary addiƟonal repayments removed (£154k in 2022/23).  The net impact of the primary and 
secondary rate changes resulted in like-for like savings. The 2023/24 annual year-end actuarial valuaƟon conƟnues 
to reflect a net pension asset for the College. As this is not an asset that the College can realise, neither an asset 
nor liability is reflected in these financial statements. 

Treasury policies and objecƟves 

Treasury management is the management of the College’s cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transacƟons, the effecƟve control of the risks associated with those acƟviƟes, and the pursuit of opƟmum 
performance consistent with those risks. 

Since re-financing the long-term debt of the College in July 2023 there have been no further amendments to 
borrowing. 

Cash flows and liquidity 

A £3,751k (2023: £1,581k), net cash inflow from operaƟng acƟviƟes has further improved which is reflecƟve of the 
ongoing efforts to drive long term sustainability. Nonetheless, the size of the College’s total borrowing inevitably 
places pressure on the College’s cash flows which are managed closely to ensure all liabiliƟes are met. The loans in 
place with the DfE are on a variable rate, pegged to the Public Works Loans Board rate on 1 April each year, with 
the total value payable each year £800,000 (inclusive of capital and interest). Overall levels of cash increased from 
£3,833k to £5,686k (2023: from £1,832k to £3,833k) within the year, with posiƟve cash generaƟon compounded 
by capital grant funding paid in advance of defrayal.  

Reserves Policy 

The College recognises that it is significantly dependent on government funding which is not guaranteed. It is crucial 
therefore to ensure there are sufficient reserves to support the College while other sources of income are secured, 
and fundraising is considered, to allow the College to meet its obligaƟons to staff and service users, if exisƟng 
sources of income are lost. 

To assure ongoing sustainability, the Board of Governors has targeted to keep cash days in line with sector 
benchmarks, thus allowing operaƟons to conƟnue and ensuring:  

 staff can conƟnue to provide educaƟon to learners.  
 there is Ɵme to secure new funding. 
 students are supported to move on to other providers where appropriate. 
 sufficient resources are retained to meet its liabiliƟes as they fall due. 

The Reserves will conƟnue to be built up from the unrestricted (earned) income.  
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

CURRENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 

Curriculum developments 

The College engages well with stakeholder groups to establish a clear understanding of local, regional and naƟonal 
skills needs. In parƟcular, the College works proacƟvely with the Wolverhampton EducaƟon, Skills and Employment 
Board. This board acts to bring stakeholders together to implement a strategy to upskill the local communiƟes in 
Wolverhampton to meet idenƟfied skills requirements.  

The College has designed a broad curriculum which meets the needs of the local economy. The curriculum is clear 
in its purpose and is ambiƟous for all students, including those with EducaƟon, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). As 
a result, students develop skills, knowledge and behaviours which enable them to be successful in the future. 
Leaders engage effecƟvely with a range of employers, stakeholders and partners to ensure that the curriculum 
content is appropriate and aligns with current industry trends and pracƟces. 

The College ensures that nearly all curriculums are appropriately sequenced. This helps students to build on their 
knowledge sequenƟally, and to retain the understanding of key concepts over Ɵme. 

Many students have low levels of prior educaƟonal achievement. Teachers have a clear understanding of learners’ 
starƟng points and use this informaƟon effecƟvely in order to plan learning in nearly all cases to ensure students 
are able to move securely into the labour market or other posiƟve desƟnaƟons including progression onto higher 
levels of educaƟon.  

Leaders are aware of the high unemployment rates within the City and understand the development of skills that 
are needed to gain and sustain employment, which is tested through a robust curriculum planning process.   

Payment performance 

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, which came into force on 1 November 1998, requires 
Colleges, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, to make payments to suppliers within 30 days of either the 
provision of goods or services or the date on which the invoice was received. The target set by the Treasury for 
payment to suppliers within 30 days is 95 per cent. The College's policy is to pay suppliers as debts fall due. On the 
rare occasion where this is not possible the College aims to communicate this with suppliers to arrange a mutually 
agreeable payment date. 

Future prospects  

The College conƟnues to work closely with its stakeholders in order to assure its long-term future prospects. The 
College’s relaƟonship with City of Wolverhampton Council conƟnues to be strong and has been key to realising 
Campus TransformaƟon and long-term sustainability. With both high levels of success in the classroom and growing 
learner numbers, it is envisaged that enhanced faciliƟes available for learners will enable the College to meet the 
demands of forthcoming demographic growth. PoliƟcal support for Further EducaƟon and the demand for skills 
locally is high. 

The College considers it is appropriate to use the “going concern” assumpƟon having due regard to best pracƟce 
developments in the UK Corporate Governance Code 2014 in respect of going concern and risk management 
reporƟng. With the collecƟve ongoing support of stakeholders, including Wolverhampton City Council, West 
Midlands Pension Fund, the ESFA and the West Midland Combined Authority, the College believes it will be able to 
conƟnue in operaƟon and meet its liabiliƟes, taking account of the current posiƟon and principal risks for the 
foreseeable future. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

RESOURCES 

The College has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategic objecƟves. 

The modernisaƟon of the estate has proven to be a key factor in the development of the College.  There is a proven 
link between the investment and parƟcipaƟon levels which underpins the strategy of campus transformaƟon. 

Property 

The College’s estate consists of two main campuses based at Wellington Road in Bilston and Paget Road to the West 
of the City of Wolverhampton.  The Wellington Road campus was redeveloped in the early 2000s on the site of the 
old Bilston College and is home to the College’s ConstrucƟon, Early Years, Futures, Health and Social Care, ICT, 
Public Services, Sport and Travel and Tourism curriculum areas.  In July 2024, construcƟon completed on a new 
Advanced Technical and AutomoƟve Centre providing state of the art Engineering, Advanced Manufacturing and 
AutomoƟve faciliƟes. OperaƟons moved across to the Wellington Road campus from Paget Road during the 
summer of 2024 in readiness for teaching and learning in September 2024. Capital grant funding for this project 
has been provided by the WMCA through the council. 

The Paget Road campus was constructed in the 1960s and resides within an 18-acre site that accommodates 
provision including A-Levels, Business, CreaƟve, EducaƟon Studies, and Hair and Beauty.  In partnership with the 
City Council, construcƟon is underway to develop a new campus, ‘City Learning Quarter’ (CLQ), to provide first class 
faciliƟes for the delivery of provision that will be displaced from Paget Road.  This project is anƟcipated to be 
completed in autumn 2025. The CLQ will occupy, in part, the Metro One building that is currently held on a long 
term leasehold basis. 

On occupaƟon of the CLQ, the College intends to dispose of the Paget Road site. The College also owns the freehold 
to part of the site currently occupied by the Newhampton Arts Centre charity that is expected to be disposed of in 
the near future. 

AddiƟonally, specialist delivery across a number of sectors including Electric Vehicle, Polymer industries, Rail and 
Civil Engineering provision takes place via leased premises at Bentley Bridge in Wolverhampton, Stafford Park in 
Telford, Black Country InnovaƟve Manufacturing OrganisaƟon (BCIMO) in Dudley and Aston in Birmingham. 

Financial 

The Group has £9.989 million of net assets (with the Local Government Pension Scheme liability at £nil) and long-
term liabiliƟes of £21.582 million (including £9.372 million of Government capital grants).  

People 

The College group employs 598 (2023: 588) people (expressed as average headcount), of whom 180 (2023: 181) 
are teaching staff. 

ReputaƟon 

The College has continued to make improvements in recent years and has sustained performance levels. In January 
2023 OfSTED  inspection the Quality of Education was assessed to be Good, and the overall effective judgment of 
Good was given. The College has been judged to be Good since 2014 and further retained this in 2017. It was 
recognised that the College promotes a culture of respect, tolerance and inclusivity. Students and apprentices gain 
a clear awareness of life in modern Britain, in particular equality and diversity and the importance of respecting 
differences and how this contributes to community cohesion.  The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) 
has continued to host the annual Adult Learners Awards since its inception in 2023. The College is extremely proud 
that its learners were recognized in the 2023 awards and National Infrastructure Solutions (NIS), a partner of the 
College, received the Engaging Adults in Learning Award at the 2024 ceremony. 
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

Since 2022/23 the College has delivered the WMCA’s Multiply, supporting adults to improve their numeracy skills. 

Leaders and managers have an incisive understanding of destinations. As a result, the intent of curriculum is 
delivering the right impact. A very high proportion of them progress into further study, volunteering or 
employment – 92% of all students enter a positive destination captured at the end of 2023/24. There is sustained 
levels of good quality of education which has led to another year of high outcomes for most students.  

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The College conƟnues to develop and embed the system of internal control, including financial, operaƟonal, and 
risk management which is designed to protect the College’s assets and reputaƟon. 

Based on the strategic plan, the ExecuƟve Management Team undertakes a comprehensive review of the risks to 
which the College is exposed. They idenƟfy systems and procedures, including specific preventable acƟons which 
should miƟgate any potenƟal impact on the College. The internal controls are then implemented, and the 
subsequent year’s appraisal will review their effecƟveness and progress against risk miƟgaƟon acƟons. In addiƟon 
to the annual review, the ExecuƟve Management Team also consider any risks which may arise as a result of a new 
area of work being undertaken by the College. 

A risk register is maintained at College level which is reviewed at each scheduled termly meeƟng of the Audit 
CommiƩee. The risk register idenƟfies the key risks, the likelihood of those risks occurring, their potenƟal impact 
on the College and the acƟons being taken to reduce and miƟgate the risks. Risks are prioriƟsed using a consistent 
scoring system. This is supported by a risk management training programme to raise awareness of risk throughout 
the College. 

Outlined below is a descripƟon of the principal risk factors that featured in the main risk register presented to the 
Audit CommiƩee in July 2024.  Not all the factors are within the College’s control. Other factors besides those listed 
below may also adversely affect the College. 

1 Going Concern and Financial Sustainability 

The College’s Financial NoƟce to Improve was liŌed on 26 April 2024 with no requirement for post intervenƟon 
monitoring.  This followed the re-financing of the College debt in July 2023 which removed the risk of breaching 
commercial debt covenants which was the key driver of Inadequate Financial Health. 

Underlying profitability conƟnues to improve, learner numbers have grown and the resulƟng posiƟve cash 
generaƟon has improved overall solvency. It is expected that the College’s financial sustainability will conƟnue to 
improve with increased learner numbers aƩracted by the new faciliƟes in the Advanced Technology and 
AutomoƟve Centre and the opening of the new City Learning Quarter campus in 2025/26. 

Therefore, the College is able to report that with the improving financial sustainability the financial statements will 
conƟnue to be produced on a going concern basis. 

2 Recruitment of Learners and Increasing Local CompeƟƟon 

The College has considerable reliance on conƟnued government funding through the further educaƟon sector 
funding bodies, the West Midlands Combined Authority and through the Office for Students. In 2023/24, 87% of 
the College’s revenue was ulƟmately publicly funded. Significant reliance on government funding is expected to 
conƟnue. CompeƟƟon for learners is fierce not only amongst local FE Colleges but also School Sixth Forms and 
private training providers. Maintaining levels of 16-19-year-old and adult learners in the classroom, as well as 
maximising opportuniƟes for apprenƟceships, are criƟcal to the financial ouƩurn of the College.  
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Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

The separaƟon of the Adult EducaƟon Budget (AEB) into devolved and non-devolved budgets presented addiƟonal 
challenges as the West Midlands Combined Authority picked up responsibility for funding within its region. Given 
the College’s proximity to the South Staffordshire border and delivery locaƟon in Shropshire this presented 
addiƟonal complexity in terms of understanding recruitment paƩerns, assuring meeƟng contract targets and 
managing external stakeholders. 

This risk is miƟgated in several ways:  

 Building and maintaining strong working relaƟonships with key local employers who are invesƟng in growth 
sectors, most notably engineering and construcƟon. The College is prioriƟsing investment in industry standard 
faciliƟes that these businesses require to ensure the training delivers the correct level of employment skills. In 
turn this has resulted in conƟnued strength in the relaƟonship with the Combined Authority which is providing 
a plaƞorm for future growth. 

 Funding derived through a mulƟtude of direct and indirect contractual arrangements. 
 Ensuring the College is rigorous in delivering high quality educaƟon and training. 
 Placing considerable focus and investment on maintaining and managing key relaƟonships with all funding 

bodies. 
 Ensuring the College is focused on those priority sectors which will conƟnue to benefit from public funding. 
 Maintaining regular dialogue with key stakeholders that is underpinned by Ɵmely and accurate management 

informaƟon. 

As a result of these acƟons, the College has conƟnued to grow contracts in respect of both 16-19 and adult learners. 

3 Accuracy of Financial Planning and Financial Health 

Given the ever-increasing complexity of Further EducaƟon, it is essenƟal that financial planning is accurate and 
Ɵmely in order to facilitate management acƟon. 

This risk is miƟgated through: 

 RouƟne consideraƟon of financial maƩers at meeƟngs of the Governing Body. 
 Financial health measures being calculated monthly as a part of the rouƟne financial reporƟng cycle. 
 The forecast financial results are updated in each set of monthly management accounts. 
 An internal meeƟng framework supports the ongoing appraisal of performance for key contracts including 16-

19 and adult classroom provision and apprenƟceships. 

4 Securing Campus TransformaƟon 

The College’s campus transformaƟon plans are long in the making. The Advanced Technology and AutomoƟve 
Centre (ATAC) opened in September 2024 and construcƟon of the new City Learning Quarter is well under way and 
progressing towards a handover date in the autumn of 2025. A project manager has been appointed to work closely 
with the construcƟon company and college staff to ensure the project progresses to the contract Ɵmeline and to 
co-ordinate the move from the Paget Road and Wellington Road campuses.  There is risk of an in-year opening in 
the 2025/26 year with the contractor’s programme float compressing the period available for fit out and 
operaƟonal tesƟng. 

5 RecruiƟng and Retaining High Quality Staff 

The challenge to recruit and retain high calibre personnel has long been a challenge, parƟcularly where salary 
expectaƟons in industry outweigh the means of college pay scales. This has been exacerbated in recent Ɵmes due 
to the naƟonal pressures on the cost of living.  
 
College managers have a posiƟve collaboraƟve working arrangement with recognised trade unions with a genuine 
aspiraƟon to provide the best possible working condiƟons for staff at all levels. During 2023/24 the College was 
able to award a government backed 6.5% pay award thus ensuring inflaƟonary growth in salaries. 
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6 High Levels of InflaƟon 

Whilst the headline rate of UK inflaƟon has significantly fallen and returning to Bank of England targets, 
the College conƟnues to monitor uƟlity costs.  The College has assurance from its energy broker that it 
has secured 100% cover for three quarters of the year, however, the College is mindful of the ongoing 
impact of global warfare on energy markets.   

The College has an ongoing agenda to reduce its carbon footprint and therefore lowering costs.  During 
2023/24 the College further invested in energy saving lighƟng at the Wellington Road campus. 

 
7 Improving the Quality of ApprenƟceships 

The areas idenƟfied for improvement in the January 2023 Ofsted inspecƟon have been addressed. Ongoing 
monitoring is conducted through one-to-one meeƟngs, Faculty meeƟngs, Quality of EducaƟon review meeƟngs, 
and Quality of EducaƟon boards to ensure these acƟons are sustained and further enhanced. A task and finish sub- 
group of the Board of Governors sƟll conƟnues to oversee the impact. 

As part of the improvements, a restructure of the assessors has been implemented, incorporaƟng delivery into all 
standards to improve the quality of both delivery and assessment. 

Targeted CPD has played a significant role in these improvements and is now aligned with the College’s CPD days, 
as well as individual ApprenƟceship and curriculum training. In response to recommendaƟons from the ESFA 
Accountability Framework, addiƟonal CPD has been provided for all staff through the EducaƟon and Training 
FoundaƟon. A deep dive has been conducted, supporƟng the improvements achieved. 

The area received a grade 3 in the Self-Assessment review, primarily due to a low achievement rate of 51%, which 
the ApprenƟceship Accountability Framework classifies as “Needs Improvement.” This low achievement rate is sƟll 
influenced by the lingering effects of the pandemic. AddiƟonally, the introducƟon of a new standard in rail 
apprenƟceships led to a significant number of withdrawals, as both employers and apprenƟces found bootcamps 
more suitable for this sector. The Hair sector also experienced many withdrawals, impacted by the cost-of-living 
crisis and an assessor, who leŌ, took apprenƟces with them. 

Already, the rigorous monitoring and RAG rated system in place which is conƟnually reviewed and challenged, has 
seen more posiƟve achievements compared to this Ɵme last year. 
 
8 Martyn’s Law 

Martyn’s Law is intended to improve protecƟve security and organisaƟonal preparedness across the UK by 
mandaƟng that certain premises and events to consider the terrorist risk and how they would respond to an aƩack. 
 
A Task and Finish group was established in 2023-24 to ensure the College's compliance with Martyn's Law, expected 
to be introduced in Autumn 2024. The law mandates measures to prevent terrorist aƩacks in public spaces 
gathering over 100 people. 
 
The College has focused on implemenƟng reasonably pracƟcable steps, processes, and procedures in accordance 
with a Self-Assessment Emergency Incident Planning Checklist. Advice has been sought from the Counter-Terrorism 
Police (CTP) unit. 
 
While the Ɵer for FE colleges under the new law is undecided, the College has been introducing measures in line 
with the Enhanced Ɵer. The CTP advised that the College will likely be in the Standard Ɵer, which it already meets. 
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Key measures implemented in 2023-24 include: 
- Site risk assessments 
- Reinforced 'Don't Walk By' campaign 
- InstallaƟon of speed gates and PA systems 
- CreaƟon of secure compounds 
- AddiƟonal fencing 
- Refreshed 'Search and Restraint' policy 
- Increased random searches 
Plans for 2024-25 include: 
- AcƟvaƟng speed gates and extending them to ATAC building 
- Replacing car park barriers with ANPR system 
- Installing outdoor seaƟng as vehicular aƩack miƟgaƟon 
- Training for staff and security team 
- Cross-College drills to test the Crisis Management Plan 
- Reviewing processes for visiƟng speakers and events 
- ConducƟng a knife arch exercise 
 
The College conƟnues to work with CTP to create a safe environment across exisƟng sites and the upcoming City 
Learning Quarter Campus. While the Ɵer level remains unconfirmed, all measures taken will benefit the College's 
safety and security.  
 
9 Partnership Provision  

Recent years have seen growth in partnership provision, fuelled by excepƟonal outcomes delivered in priority 
sectors in collaboraƟon with the West Midlands Combined Authority. Whilst the evaluated risk has not increased, 
the impact of any risk that may materialise is proporƟonately greater. The College conƟnues to monitor this risk, 
invesƟng addiƟonal resources where appropriate which has seen the highest levels of assurance with regards to 
the ESFA’s SubcontracƟng Standard. 
 
STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS 
In line with other colleges and with universiƟes, City of Wolverhampton College has many stakeholders.  These 
include: 

 Students and apprenƟces. 
 EducaƟon sector funding bodies, most notably the EducaƟon and Skills Funding Agency and Office for 

Students. 
 Staff and Governors. 
 Local employers (with specific links). 
 City of Wolverhampton Council and the West Midlands Combined Authority. 
 The local community. 
 Other FE insƟtuƟons, including the Colleges West Midlands group. 
 Trade unions. 
 Professional bodies. 
 Local schools. 

The College recognises the importance of these relaƟonships and engages in regular communicaƟon with them 
through the social media plaƞorms, sharing of college briefings, an enhanced web site and by meeƟngs. 
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Equal opportuniƟes  

The College is commiƩed to ensuring that all employees, students, apprenƟces and visitors are treated equally 
regardless of the following protected characterisƟcs of age, gender, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy or 
maternity, race (including ethnic or naƟonal origins, colour or naƟonality), religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientaƟon, marriage and civil partnership (employment only). The policy also applies to any franchised or 
subcontracted provision run by the College and to contractors working at the College. This policy is resourced, 
implemented and monitored on a planned basis.  

In line with Chapter 15 of the Equality Act 2010, the Governing Body of the College has a specific responsibility to 
ensure there is no discriminaƟon, harassment or vicƟmisaƟon against any person in respect of the admissions 
procedure, enrolment and terms of enrolment, the provision of training, and access to college services, faciliƟes 
and support and exclusion from a course. ConsideraƟon will also be given to the prevenƟon of discriminaƟon 
against a disabled person in respect of the award of their qualificaƟon (subsecƟon 3). 

An annual Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Report that covers students, apprenƟces and staff is published. 

The College is a Disability Confident Employer and has commiƩed to the principles and objecƟves of the standard. 
The College offers a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet the essenƟal criteria for the 
post.  Where an exisƟng employee becomes disabled, every effort is made to ensure that employment with the 
College conƟnues. The College's policy is to provide training, career development and opportuniƟes for promoƟon 
which, as far as possible, provide idenƟcal opportuniƟes to those of non-disabled employees.  

The College has commiƩed to the ‘Mindful Employer’ iniƟaƟve to assist the mental health wellbeing of staff and is 
also working towards achieving the Thrive at Work accreditaƟon which is awarded through the West Midlands 
Combined Authority. 

Disability statement  

The College seeks to achieve the objecƟves set down in the Equality Act 2010:  

a. As part of its accommodaƟon strategy the College engaged with experts to conduct a full access audit, 
and the results of this formed the basis of funding capital projects aimed at improving access.  

b. The College employees a Safeguarding and Equality Manager, and SEND and Inclusion Managers, who 
provide informaƟon, advice and arranges support, where necessary, for students with disabiliƟes. 

c. There is a list of specialist equipment which the College can make available for use by students and a range 
of assisƟve technology is available in the Study Hub. We have AssisƟve technology specialists who can 
advise students and staff 

d. The admissions policy for all students is described in the College charter. Appeals against a decision not to 
offer a place are dealt with under the complaints policy.  

e. The College has made a significant investment in the appointment of specialists to support students with 
learning difficulƟes and/or disabiliƟes. There are many student support workers who can provide a variety 
of support for learning. There is a conƟnuing programme of staff development to ensure the provision of 
a high level of appropriate support for students who have learning difficulƟes and/or disabiliƟes.  
Specialist programmes are described in College prospectuses, and achievements and desƟnaƟons are 
recorded and published in the standard College format.  
 

The College provides a variety of support mechanisms for students and apprenƟces, including dedicated 
Safeguarding, Mental Health First Aiders, and Counselling services. AddiƟonal informaƟon and guidance are 
available on the College’s website. The college values the Learner Voice, promoƟng it through the ‘Speak out – 
Eight ways to have your say’ campaign, which also includes the college’s Complaint Policy and Procedures, clearly 
outlined on the website.  
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To support the success of students and apprenƟces, the College has implemented posiƟve behaviour intervenƟons 
based on trauma-informed pracƟces. All this informaƟon on College life is shared during inducƟons. 

Sustainability Strategy 

City of Wolverhampton College (CoWC) is commiƩed to the UK Government’s Sustainability Strategy, which aims 
to achieve carbon net zero across all sectors by 2050.  We recognise their asserƟon that the EducaƟon sector is 
absolutely key to this strategy and that we have an obligaƟon to contribute and so are working towards a target of 
achieving carbon net zero by 2033, joining the declaraƟon of a climate crisis. 

We further recognise the importance of involving the young people who come to this college in our 
goals, ensuring that they understand the importance of their environment and natural surroundings, 
their individual affect upon it and how this determines the future of our natural resources and the wider 
global climate.   
By engaging with and promoƟng an understanding the natural world around them, we will encourage our students 
to acknowledge the need for acƟon and to understand the impact on their lives, and on the wider global 
community, of climate change.  By enhancing this understanding through educaƟon, we aim to empower them to 
prepare for the challenges they will face and encourage them to develop the green skills they will need in the 
future. 

Having joined with other organisaƟons and made a declaraƟon of a Climate Emergency in March 2023, the first 5 
years of the college’s strategy sets out the strategic aims and objecƟves for the achievement of carbon net zero by 
2033.  It outlines our ambiƟon to achieve ‘emerging’ status by September 2023, becoming ‘established’ by 
academic year 2024-25 and ‘leading’ by 2027.  

The full document can be found on the College’s website at: hƩps://www.wolvcoll.ac.uk/our-college/sustainability-
2/ 

  



Report and Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 July 2024 

 

17 

Report of the Governing Body (ConƟnued) 

Trade union facility Ɵme  

Under the provisions of the Trade Union (Facility Time PublicaƟon Requirements) RegulaƟons 2017, where a public 
authority (including FE colleges) has more than 49 full Ɵme equivalent employees throughout any 7 months within 
the reporƟng period, it must include informaƟon included in Schedule 2 of the RegulaƟons. 

Relevant union officials 

Numbers of employees who were 
employed in the relevant period 

FTE employee 
number 

2 2 

 

Percentage of Ɵme spent on facility Ɵme 

Percentage of Ɵme 
Number of 
employees 

0% 0 
1-50% 2 

51-99% 0 
100% 0 

 

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility Ɵme 

Total cost of facility Ɵme  
Total pay bill £19,001,951.91 

Total cost of facility Ɵme £4,206.46 
Percentage of total bill spent on facility 

Ɵme 
0.02% 

 
Paid trade union acƟviƟes  

 

 

  

Hours spent on facility Ɵme 198 
Hours spent on paid trade union 

acƟviƟes 
84.5 

Time spent on paid trade union 
acƟviƟes as a percentage of total paid 

facility Ɵme 
42.68% 
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Disclosure of informaƟon to auditors 

The members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit informaƟon of which the College’s auditors are unaware; and each member has taken all 
the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant audit informaƟon and to establish that 
the College’s auditors are aware of that informaƟon. 

Approved by order of the members of the CorporaƟon on 12 December 2024 and signed on its behalf on 12 
December 2024 by: 

 

 

Mike HasƟngs 

Chair of Governors   
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The following statement is provided to enable readers of the annual report and accounts of the College to obtain 
a beƩer understanding of its governance and legal structure. This statement covers the period from 1 August 2023 
to 31 July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.  

The College endeavours to conduct its business: 

i. in accordance with the seven principles idenƟfied by the CommiƩee on Standards in Public Life (selflessness, 
integrity, objecƟvity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership) 

ii. in full accordance with the guidance to colleges from the AssociaƟon of Colleges in The Code of Good 
Governance for English Colleges (“the Code”).   
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The CorporaƟon  

The members who served on the CorporaƟon during the year and up to the date of signature of this report were 
as listed in the table below. 

The 
CorporaƟon 

Date of 
appointment 

Term of Office Date of 
resignaƟon 

Status of 
appointment 

CommiƩees served Board 
AƩendance 

2023/24 

Ms I Axinte 29/03/21 31/03/25 01/03/24 Governor - 3/4 

Ms Dionne 
BarreƩ 

07/03/22 28/02/26 - Governor Audit 7/8 

Mr J Bradford 

Chair of Audit 
CommiƩee 

01/09/20 31/07/28 - Governor Audit 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight Group 

Search and 
Governance 

RemuneraƟon 

7/8 

Mrs J Carter 24/07/23 23/07/27 - Governor - 7/8 

Mr M Cowgill 05/03/18 Tenure 31/07/24 Principal and 
Chief ExecuƟve 

Search and 
Governance 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight Group 

7/8 

Mr S Duru 29/03/21 31/03/25 - Governor ApprenƟceship Task 
and Finish Group 

8/8 

Mr T DuƩon 01/08/19 31/07/27 04/08/24 Governor Audit 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight Group 

6/8 

Mr S Evans 24/07/23 23/07/27 - Governor RemuneraƟon 7/8 

Ms L Fall 01/08/24 Tenure - Principal and 
Chief ExecuƟve 

- - 

Ms L Flynn 29/03/21 31/03/25 30/11/23 Governor ApprenƟceship Task 
and Finish Group 

0/2 

Mr I Gardner 29/03/21 31/03/25 31/07/24 Governor ApprenƟceship Task 
and Finish Group 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight Group 

8/8 
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The 
CorporaƟon 

Date of 
appointment 

Term of Office Date of 
resignaƟon 

Status of 
appointment 

CommiƩees served Board 
AƩendance 

2023/24 

Mr J Gough 20/05/19 31/07/27 - Associate 
member of the 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight 
Group 

Campus 
TransformaƟon 

Oversight Group 

N/A 

Mr G Gregorini 24/07/23 23/07/24 23/07/24 Student 
Governor 

- 5/8 

Mrs W Harris 23/03/23 22/03/27 - Staff Governor - 8/8 

Mr M HasƟngs 

Vice Chair to 
11/12/2023 

Chair from 
11/12/2023 

Chair of the 
Campus 

TransformaƟon 
Oversight 

Group 

Chair of the 
Search and 
Governance 
CommiƩee 

23/07/18 31/07/26 - Governor Audit (unƟl 11/12/23) 

Search & Governance 

RemuneraƟon 
Campus 

TransformaƟon 
Oversight Group 

7/8 

Mrs H Knight 29/03/21 31/03/25 - Governor - 4/8 

Ms A Shannon 01/04/21 31/03/25 - Associate 
Member of 

Audit 
CommiƩee 

Audit CommiƩee N/A 

Mr D Shaw 24/07/23 23/07/27 - Governor ApprenƟceships Task 
and Finish Group 

7/8 

Ms D Surchicin 01/08/24 31/07/25 - Student 
Governor 

- - 

Mr M Taylor 

Chair to 
11/12/2023 

Vice Chair from 
11/12/2023 

 

25/02/19 31/07/27 - Governor Search and 
Governance 

RemuneraƟon 

7/8 
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The 
CorporaƟon 

Date of 
appointment 

Term of Office Date of 
resignaƟon 

Status of 
appointment 

CommiƩees served Board 
AƩendance 

2023/24 

Mr S Thompson 01/04/21 31/03/25 - Governor ApprenƟceship Task 
and Finish Group 

6/8 

Ms A Tomlinson 14/12/20 31/07/28 - Governor Audit 

Search and 
Governance 

RemuneraƟon 

7/8 

 
Mrs A Buick is Head of Governance (Clerk to the Board of Governors). 
 

 It is the CorporaƟon’s responsibility to bring independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, 
resources and standards of conduct. 

The CorporaƟon is provided with regular and Ɵmely informaƟon on the overall financial performance of the College 
together with other informaƟon such as performance against funding targets, proposed capital expenditure, quality 
maƩers and personnel-related maƩers such as health and safety and environmental issues. The CorporaƟon meets 
broadly half termly which equated to eight Ɵmes in the 2023/24 academic year. 

The CorporaƟon operates an approved schedule of regular meeƟngs and conducts its business through a number 
of commiƩees and task and finish groups. Each commiƩee and task and finish group has terms of reference, which 
have been approved by the CorporaƟon. During 2023/24 these were Audit, RemuneraƟon, and Search and 
Governance, the Campus TransformaƟon Oversight Group, the ApprenƟceship Task and Finish Group and the Rail 
Strategy Task and Finish Group. Full minutes of all meeƟngs, except those deemed to be confidenƟal by the 
CorporaƟon, are available on the College’s website www.wolvcoll.ac.uk or from the Head of Governance at: 

City of Wolverhampton College 
Paget Road 
Wolverhampton 
WV6 0DU 

The CorporaƟon adopted the Carver model of Governance with effect from August 2015 and the Audit, 
RemuneraƟon and Search and Governance CommiƩees have remained in place from that date. The Campus 
TransformaƟon Oversight Group was established in 2018, the ApprenƟceship Task and Finish Group was established 
in 2020 and the Rail Strategy Task and Finish Group was established in 2023. 

The Head of Governance maintains a register of financial and personal interests of the Governors. The register is 
available for inspecƟon at the above address.  

All Governors are able to take independent professional advice in furtherance of their duƟes at the College’s 
expense and have access to the Head of Governance, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that all applicable 
procedures and regulaƟons are complied with. The appointment, evaluaƟon and removal of the Head of 
Governance are maƩers for the CorporaƟon as a whole. 

Formal agendas, papers and reports are supplied to Governors in a Ɵmely manner, prior to Board meeƟngs. 
Briefings are provided on an ad hoc basis.   
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The CorporaƟon has a strong and independent non-execuƟve element, and no individual or group dominates its 
decision-making process. The CorporaƟon considers that each of its non-execuƟve members is independent of 
management and free from any business or other relaƟonship which could materially interfere with the exercise 
of their independent judgement. The CorporaƟon is the appoinƟng authority for all its non-execuƟve members and 
Governors who are nominated by an organisaƟon are not subject to any mandate and act independently declaring 
conflicts of interest as appropriate. 

There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles of the Chair and AccounƟng Officer are separate. 

Any new appointments to the CorporaƟon are a maƩer for the consideraƟon of the CorporaƟon as a whole. The 
CorporaƟon has a Search and Governance CommiƩee which is comprised of the Chair, Vice Chairs, AccounƟng 
Officer and at least one other Independent member of the CorporaƟon. The CommiƩee is responsible for the 
selecƟon and nominaƟon of any new member for the CorporaƟon’s consideraƟon. The CorporaƟon is responsible 
for ensuring that appropriate training is provided as required. 

Members of the CorporaƟon are appointed for a term of office not exceeding four years.  
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CorporaƟon performance 

The Search and Governance CommiƩee reviewed the performance of the Board through the annual self-
assessment at its meeƟng in November 2023 and a summary of this was presented to the Board in December 2023, 
taking into consideraƟon the annual self-assessment of Governance, the role of the CommiƩees and a review of 
performance against the Code of Good Governance for English Colleges. The College’s Key Performance Indicators 
are reported to the Board at least on a quarterly basis with financial performance indicators also being reported in 
the monthly management accounts. These indicators are derived from the College’s Strategic ObjecƟves and cover 
all aspects of the College’s performance including teaching and learning, learner outcomes, learner saƟsfacƟon, 
employer engagement, partnerships, enrolments and financial indicators. The KPIs form a sound basis from which 
managers and Governors can monitor and judge performance and progress. The annual and three-year targets are 
based on comparaƟve data (where appropriate) and targets are set to be stretching, but achievable. 
 
The Board was able to take considerable assurance that governance arrangements are robust and appropriately 
structured to support delivery of the strategic plan and conƟnued improvements to the College. 

There was an Independent Review of Governance carried out by a NaƟonal Leader in 2023/24.  The next 
Independent Review will take place no later than 2026/27.  The NaƟonal Leader aƩended the Board meeƟng in 
July 2024 to present his observaƟons and recommendaƟons.  A full wriƩen report was received and the resulƟng 
acƟon plan has been agreed with the Board.   

The review involved a Governor survey, one to one interviews with Board members, members of the ExecuƟve 
Management Team and the Head of Governance; observaƟon of a number of Board, CommiƩee and Task & 
Finish Group meeƟngs and an extensive review of relevant documentaƟon.  

The review concluded that there is evidence the Board is proficient and has some impact on college strategy, 
effectiveness and outcomes. 
 
The following table summarises some of the headline strengths and areas for development identified in the 
review: 
 
STRENGTHS  
 

AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT  

Board Composition  

A good mix of skills and experience on the Board with 
finance, health and housing being particular strengths. 

Address the current gender imbalance. 

Governors are curious, express commitment to the college 
and are ambitious for students. 

Progress the recruitment of a governor with FE experience 
and another from the local business community.  The 
recruitment of a second student governor would also 
benefit the Board. 

Board Structure  
Key documentation relating to governance practice is in 
place and well written. 

Policy or process needed to address consistent non-
attendance. 

Minutes, including notes of support and challenge are easy 
to understand with decisions taken and action points made 
very clear. 
 

Explore how to reduce the volume of papers – governors 
consistently said papers were too long and too detailed.  

Board Interaction  
Good examples of scrutiny and challenge.  Board and 
executive team work well together, as do governors. 

Challenge could be more widespread on the Board. 

Interactions between governors are good-natured, 
respectful and courteous.  

The college’s strategic plan needs to be clearer to 
governors. 
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RemuneraƟon CommiƩee 

The College has established a RemuneraƟon CommiƩee with responsibility to undertake an annual review of, and 
advise the CorporaƟon on, the level of remuneraƟon including basic salary, benefits in kind, annual 
bonus/performance related elements and pension provisions. Details of remuneraƟon for the year ended 31 July 
2024 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
The RemuneraƟon CommiƩee recommended the adopƟon of the College’s Senior Staff RemuneraƟon Code to the 
CorporaƟon for approval at its meeƟng held on 25 November 2019. 
 
The membership of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee for the 2023/24 academic year was: 
 
Mark Taylor (Chair of the Board of Governors unƟl 11 December 2023, Vice Chair of the Board of 

Governors thereaŌer) 
Mike HasƟngs (Vice Chair of the Board of Governors unƟl 11 December 2023, Chair of the Board of 

Governors thereaŌer) 
Amanda Tomlinson (Vice Chair of the Board of Governors and Chair of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee) 
John Bradford  (Chair of the Audit CommiƩee) 
Simon Evans  Independent Governor 
 
Senior Post Holders 

The roles designated as Senior Post Holders and within the remit of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee during 2023/24 
are the Principal, Deputy Chief ExecuƟve, Deputy Principal and the Head of Governance. 

RemuneraƟon CommiƩee 

In 2023/24 the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee met once, on 20 November 2023, and reviewed the remuneraƟon of 
those staff within its remit.  The CommiƩee met in private without staff members in aƩendance. 
 
The Head of Governance acted as Clerk to the CommiƩee. 
 
There were five members of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee including the Chair of the Board of Governors and the 
two Vice Chairs.  The Chair of the Board of Governors is not the Chair of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee. The Principal 
is not a member of the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee. 
 
The RemuneraƟon CommiƩee provides an annual report to the CorporaƟon at its December meeƟng. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control (ConƟnued) 

Senior Post Holder RemuneraƟon 

The Principal and Chief ExecuƟve’s contract was extended in August 2021. The Principal and Chief ExecuƟve 
received the same cost of living increase as other staff at the College as from 1 February 2024.  He resigned with 
effect from 31 July 2024 and a new Principal and Chief ExecuƟve was appointed from 1 August 2024. 
 
The Deputy Chief ExecuƟve and the Deputy Principal (both Senior Post Holders) received the same cost of living 
increase as other staff at the College as from 1 February 2024. 
 
The College does not operate a bonus scheme for Senior Post Holders, nor does it offer any addiƟonal benefits e.g. 
lease cars that are unavailable to any other member of staff. Senior Post Holders are enƟtled to parƟcipate in the 
Local Government or Teachers Pension Scheme. 
 
Senior Post Holders expenses are paid in accordance with the College’s Expenses Policy. 
 
Choice of comparator college(s)/organisaƟon(s) 

In considering salary increases, the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee has regard to the latest benchmarking informaƟon 
available in the AssociaƟon of Colleges Senior Pay Survey which is published on an annual basis. 
 
The CommiƩee also has regard to market condiƟons and the skills and experience required to fulfil the role and 
the significant developments in relaƟon to the Campus TransformaƟon. 
 
As appropriate the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee also has regard to benchmarking data provided by other 
organisaƟons. 
 
Pay MulƟple of the Principal and Chief ExecuƟve and the median earnings of the insƟtuƟon’s whole workforce: 

Details of the pay mulƟple of the Principal and Chief ExecuƟve are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. In 
2023/24 the Principal’s pay was 5.9 Ɵmes (2022/23: 6.2) the pay of the median employee.  

Significant changes 

The Principal and Chief ExecuƟve resigned with effect from 31 July 2024.  The Board undertook a detailed process, 
supported by external recruitment consultants, to appoint a new Principal and Chief ExecuƟve with effect from 1 
August 2024.  There were no other changes to Senior Post Holders during the year. 

Severance arrangements 

During the period covered by the report the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee was not asked to consider any such 
arrangement. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control (ConƟnued) 

Audit CommiƩee 

The Audit CommiƩee comprises a Chair and three other members of the CorporaƟon (excluding the AccounƟng 
Officer and Chair) and an Associate member. The CommiƩee operates in accordance with wriƩen terms of 
reference approved by the CorporaƟon.  

The Audit CommiƩee meets on a termly basis and provides a forum for reporƟng by the College’s Internal Audit 
Service and financial statements auditors, who have access to the CommiƩee for independent discussion, without 
the presence of college management. The CommiƩee also receives and considers reports from the main FE funding 
bodies as they affect the College’s business. 

The College’s internal auditors review the systems of internal control, risk management controls and governance 
processes in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to management and the Audit 
CommiƩee. 

Management is responsible for the implementaƟon of agreed audit recommendaƟons and internal audit 
undertakes periodic follow-up reviews to ensure such recommendaƟons have been implemented. 

The Audit CommiƩee also advises the CorporaƟon on the appointment of the internal audit service and the 
financial statements auditors and their remuneraƟon for audit and non-audit work as well as reporƟng annually to 
the CorporaƟon. 

The Audit CommiƩee has advised the Board that there is an effecƟve framework for governance, risk 
management and internal control in place.  The CommiƩee believes that, based on the work undertaken and the 
reports received, that the Board has effecƟve controls in place. 

The specific areas of work undertaken by the auditors and received by the CommiƩee up to the date of the 
approval of the accounts are: 

 Payments and Procurement 
 Budgetary Control 
 Cyber Security 
 Learner Numbers 
 Safeguarding 
 Sub-Contractor Controls 
 Campus TransformaƟon 
 Follow Up 
 Review of the planning and compleƟon of the external audit. 

Internal control 

Scope of responsibility 

 The CorporaƟon is ulƟmately responsible for the College’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effecƟveness. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objecƟves and can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. 

The CorporaƟon has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Principal, as AccounƟng Officer, for maintaining 
a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the College’s policies, aims and objecƟves, 
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which they are personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibiliƟes assigned to them in the Financial Memorandum between City of Wolverhampton College and the 
funding bodies. They are also responsible for reporƟng to the CorporaƟon any material weaknesses or breakdowns 
in internal control. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control (ConƟnued) 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objecƟves; it can therefore only provide reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance of effecƟveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to idenƟfy and 
prioriƟse the risks to the achievement of college policies, aims and objecƟves, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effecƟvely and 
economically. The system of internal control has been in place within City of Wolverhampton College for the year 
ended 31 July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The CorporaƟon has reviewed the key risks to which the College is exposed together with the operaƟng, financial 
and compliance controls that have been implemented to miƟgate those risks. The CorporaƟon is of the view that 
there is a formal ongoing process for idenƟfying, evaluaƟng and managing the College's significant risks that has 
been in place for the period ending 31 July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
This process is regularly reviewed by the CorporaƟon.  

The risk and control framework 

The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management informaƟon, administraƟve 
procedures including the segregaƟon of duƟes, and a system of delegaƟon and accountability. It includes: 

 comprehensive budgeƟng systems with an annual budget, which is reviewed and agreed by the governing 
body 

 regular reviews by the governing body of periodic and annual financial reports which indicate financial 
performance against forecasts 

 seƫng targets to measure financial and other performance 

 clearly defined capital investment control guidelines 

 the adopƟon of formal project management disciplines, where appropriate 

The College has an internal audit service, which operates in accordance with the requirements of the ESFA’s Post 
16 Audit Code of PracƟce. The work of the internal audit service is informed by an analysis of the risks to which the 
College is exposed, and annual internal audit plans are based on this analysis. The analysis of risks and the internal 
audit plans are endorsed by the CorporaƟon on the recommendaƟon of the Audit CommiƩee. As a minimum, 
annually, the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) provides the governing body with a report on internal audit acƟvity in 
the College. The report includes the HIA’s independent opinion on the adequacy and effecƟveness of the College’s 
system of risk management, controls and governance processes. 

ResponsibiliƟes under accountability agreements 

The Department for EducaƟon and EducaƟon and Skills Funding Agency introduced new controls for the College 
on 29 November 2022 on the day that the Office for NaƟonal StaƟsƟcs reclassified colleges as public sector 
organisaƟons in the naƟonal accounts.  The ESFA chief execuƟve communicated these changes to all college 
accounƟng officers and explained plans to introduce a college financial handbook in 2024.  The college has reviewed 
its policies, procedures and approval processes in line with these new requirements to ensure there are systems in 
place to idenƟfy and handle any transacƟons for which DfE approval is required. 

Review of effecƟveness 

As AccounƟng Officer, the Principal has responsibility for reviewing the effecƟveness of the system of internal 
control. Their review of the effecƟveness of the system of internal control is informed by: 

 the work of the internal auditors 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control (ConƟnued) 

 the work of the execuƟve managers within the College who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework, and  

 comments made by the College’s financial statements auditors, the reporƟng accountant for regularity 
assurance, the appointed funding auditors (for colleges subject to funding audit) in their management leƩers 
and other reports. 

The AccounƟng Officer has been advised on the implicaƟons of the result of their review of the effecƟveness of the 
system of internal control by the Audit CommiƩee, which oversees the work of the internal auditor and other 
sources of assurance and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure conƟnuous improvement of the system is in 
place. 

The ExecuƟve Management Team receives reports seƫng out key performance and risk indicators and considers 
possible control issues brought to their aƩenƟon by early warning mechanisms, which are embedded within the 
departments and reinforced by risk awareness training. The ExecuƟve Management Team and the Audit CommiƩee 
also receive regular reports from internal audit and other sources of assurance, which include recommendaƟons 
for improvement. The Audit CommiƩee's role in this area is confined to a high-level review of the arrangements 
for internal control. The CorporaƟon's agenda includes an annual item for consideraƟon of risk and control and 
receives reports thereon from the ExecuƟve Management Team and the Audit CommiƩee. The emphasis is on 
obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely reporƟng by excepƟon. At its December 2024 meeƟng, 
the CorporaƟon carried out the annual assessment for the year ended 31 July 2024 by considering documentaƟon 
from the ExecuƟve Management Team and internal audit, and taking account of events since 31 July 2024. 

Based on the advice of the Audit CommiƩee and the AccounƟng Officer, the CorporaƟon is of the opinion that the 
College has an adequate and effecƟve framework for governance, risk management and control, and has fulfilled 
its statutory responsibility for “the effecƟve and efficient use of resources, the solvency of the insƟtuƟon and the 
body and the safeguarding of their assets”. 

Going concern 

In determining whether the College’s annual financial statements can be prepared on a going concern basis, the 
Governors have considered the Group’s business acƟviƟes, together with the factors likely to affect its future 
development, performance and posiƟon. The review also includes the financial posiƟon of the College and the 
wider Group, their short term and long-term cash flows, liquidity posiƟon and borrowing faciliƟes. 

The key factors considered by the Governors in making the assessment of going concern included: 

 The implicaƟons of changes to the social and economic environment on the College’s revenues and surpluses. 
In parƟcular, the impact the College’s ability to deliver acƟvity in line with its forecast for the year. 

 Expected repayments on the College’s £12.5 million loan facility provided by the Secretary of State for 
EducaƟon. 

 Downside scenario models including the impact on the delivery of acƟvity in the current financial year as well 
as the miƟgaƟng factors available such as delaying non-essenƟal capital and maintenance expenditure. 

The Governors are confident that the Group and College can conƟnue in operaƟonal existence for at least the next 
twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements. For these reasons, the Governors conƟnue to 
adopt the going concern basis for the preparaƟon of these financial statements and in preparing the financial 
statements they do not include any adjustments that would be required to be made if they were prepared on a 
basis other than going concern. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control (ConƟnued) 

 
Approved by order of the members of the CorporaƟon on 12 December 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
     

     
       
Mike HasƟngs     Louise Fall 

Chair of Governors    AccounƟng Officer  
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Governing Body’s Statement on the College’s Regularity, Propriety and 
Compliance 

As accounƟng officer, I confirm that the corporaƟon has had due regard to the framework of authoriƟes governing 
regularity, priority and compliance, and the requirements of grant funding agreements and contracts with ESFA, 
and has considered its responsibility to noƟfy ESFA of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with 
those authoriƟes and terms and condiƟons of funding. 
 
I confirm on behalf of the corporaƟon that aŌer due enquiry, and to the best of my knowledge, I am able to idenƟfy 
any material irregular or improper use of funds by the corporaƟon, or material non-compliance with the framework 
of authoriƟes and the terms and condiƟons of funding under the corporaƟon’s grant funding agreements and 
contracts with ESFA, or any other public funder. This includes the elements outlined in the “Dear accounƟng officer” 
leƩer of 29 November 2022 and ESFA’s bite size guides. 
 
I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety, funding noncompliance, or non-compliance with 
the framework of authoriƟes have been discovered to date. If any instances are idenƟfied aŌer the date of this 
statement, these will be noƟfied to ESFA. 

 

 
 
Louise Fall 
AccounƟng Officer 
12 December 2024 
 
 
Statement of the Chair of Governors 

On behalf of the corporaƟon, I confirm that the accounƟng officer has discussed their statement of regularity, 
propriety, and compliance with the board and that I am content that it is materially accurate. 

 

 
 
Mike HasƟngs 
Chair of Governors 
12 December 2024 
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Statement of ResponsibiliƟes of the Members of the CorporaƟon 

The members of the corporaƟon are required to present audited financial statements for each financial year. Within 
the terms and condiƟons of the corporaƟon’s grant funding agreements and contracts with ESFA and West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), the corporaƟon – through its AccounƟng Officer - is required to prepare 
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial performance and posiƟon of the corporaƟon 
for the relevant period. CorporaƟons must also prepare a strategic report which includes an operaƟng and financial 
review for the year. The bases for the preparaƟon of the financial statements and strategic report are the Statement 
of Recommended PracƟce – AccounƟng for Further and Higher EducaƟon, ESFA’s College Accounts DirecƟon and 
the UK’s Generally Accepted AccounƟng PracƟce. In preparing the financial statements, the corporaƟon is required 
to:  
 
 select suitable accounƟng policies and apply them consistently. 
 make judgements and esƟmates that are reasonable and prudent. 
 state whether applicable UK accounƟng standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclose d and explained in the financial statements. 
 assess whether the corporaƟon is a going concern, noƟng the key supporƟng assumpƟons, qualificaƟons or 

miƟgaƟng acƟons, as appropriate (which must be consistent with other disclosures in the accounts and 
auditor’s report). 

 prepare financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that the 
corporaƟon will conƟnue in operaƟon. 

 
The corporaƟon is also required to prepare a strategic report, in accordance with paragraphs 3.23 to 3.27 of the FE 
and HE SORP, that describes what it is trying to do and how it is going about it, including informaƟon about the 
legal and administraƟve status of the corporaƟon.  
 
The corporaƟon is responsible for keeping proper accounƟng records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at 
any Ɵme, the financial posiƟon of the corporaƟon and which enable it to ensure that the financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with relevant legislaƟon including the Further and Higher EducaƟon Act 1992 and ChariƟes 
Act 2011, and relevant accounƟng standards. It is responsible for taking steps that are reasonably open to it to 
safeguard its assets and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulariƟes.  
 
The corporaƟon is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of its website(s); the work carried out by auditors 
does not involve consideraƟon of these maƩers and, accordingly, auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were iniƟally presented on the website. LegislaƟon 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparaƟon and disseminaƟon of financial statements may differ from 
legislaƟon in other jurisdicƟons.  
 
Members of the corporaƟon are responsible for ensuring that expenditure and income are applied for the purposes 
intended and that the financial transacƟons conform to the authoriƟes that govern them. In addiƟon, they are 
responsible for ensuring that funds from ESFA, and any other public funds, are used only in accordance with ESFA’s 
grant funding agreements and contracts and any other condiƟons, that may be prescribed from Ɵme to Ɵme by 
ESFA, or any other public funder, including that any transacƟons entered into by the corporaƟon are within the 
delegated authoriƟes set out in the “Dear accounƟng officer” leƩer of 29 November 2022 and ESFA’s bite size 
guides. Members of the corporaƟon must ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in 
place to safeguard public and other funds and ensure they are used properly. In addiƟon, members of the 
corporaƟon are responsible for securing economic, efficient and effecƟve management of the corporaƟon’s 
resources and expenditure so that the benefits that should be derived from the applicaƟon of public funds from 
ESFA and other public bodies are not put at risk. 
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Statement of ResponsibiliƟes of the Members of the CorporaƟon (ConƟnued) 

Approved by order of the members of the CorporaƟon on 12 December 2024 and signed on its behalf on 11 
December 2023 by: 

 

 
 
 
Mike HasƟngs 
Chair of Governors
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the CorporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton 
College 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of City of Wolverhampton College (the ‘parent corporaƟon’) and its 
subsidiaries (the 'group') for the year ended 31 July 2024 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated and 
College Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  and the notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounƟng policies. The financial reporƟng framework that has been applied in 
their preparaƟon is applicable law and United Kingdom AccounƟng Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial 
ReporƟng Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted AccounƟng 
PracƟce), the Statement of Recommended PracƟce: AccounƟng for Further and Higher EducaƟon (the ‘FE HE 
SORP’) and the College Accounts DirecƟon for 2023 to 2024.  

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 July 2024 and of the group’s income and 
expenditure, gains and losses, changes in reserves and cash flows, for the year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted AccounƟng PracƟce; 
and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the FE HE SORP, and College Accounts DirecƟon 
2023 to 2024 and the Office for Students’ Accounts DirecƟon. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with InternaƟonal Standards on AudiƟng (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibiliƟes under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibiliƟes for the audit 
of the financial statements secƟon of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibiliƟes in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Conclusion relaƟng to going concern 

In audiƟng the financial statements, we have concluded that the members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounƟng in the preparaƟon of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not idenƟfied any material uncertainƟes relaƟng to events or 
condiƟons that, individually or collecƟvely, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent corporaƟon’s ability 
to conƟnue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.  

Our responsibiliƟes and the responsibiliƟes of the members with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant secƟons of this report. 

Other informaƟon 

The other informaƟon comprises the informaƟon included in the report and Financial Statements, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The members are responsible for the other informaƟon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informaƟon and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the CorporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton 
College (ConƟnued) 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of City of Wolverhampton College (the ‘parent corporaƟon’) and its 
subsidiaries (the 'group') for the year ended 31 July 2024 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated and 
College Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  and the notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounƟng policies. The financial reporƟng framework that has been applied in 
their preparaƟon is applicable law and United Kingdom AccounƟng Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial 
ReporƟng Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted AccounƟng 
PracƟce), the Statement of Recommended PracƟce: AccounƟng for Further and Higher EducaƟon (the ‘FE HE 
SORP’) and the College Accounts DirecƟon for 2023 to 2024.  

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 July 2024 and of the group’s income and 
expenditure, gains and losses, changes in reserves and cash flows, for the year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted AccounƟng PracƟce; 
and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the FE HE SORP, and College Accounts DirecƟon 
2023 to 2024 and the Office for Students’ Accounts DirecƟon. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with InternaƟonal Standards on AudiƟng (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibiliƟes under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibiliƟes for the audit 
of the financial statements secƟon of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibiliƟes in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Conclusion relaƟng to going concern 

In audiƟng the financial statements, we have concluded that the members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounƟng in the preparaƟon of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not idenƟfied any material uncertainƟes relaƟng to events or 
condiƟons that, individually or collecƟvely, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent corporaƟon’s ability 
to conƟnue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.  

Our responsibiliƟes and the responsibiliƟes of the members with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant secƟons of this report. 

Other informaƟon 

The other informaƟon comprises the informaƟon included in the report and Financial Statements, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The members are responsible for the other informaƟon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other informaƟon and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the CorporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton 
College (ConƟnued) 

Auditor’s responsibiliƟes for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objecƟves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

IrregulariƟes, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulaƟons. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibiliƟes, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregulariƟes, including 
fraud. In idenƟfying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregulariƟes, including fraud and 
non-compliance with laws and regulaƟons, we considered the following: 

 the nature of the sector, control environment and the group’s performance; 
 results of our enquiries of management and the members, including the commiƩees charged with 

governance over the group’s finance and control, about their own idenƟficaƟon and assessment of the risks 
of irregulariƟes; 

 any maƩers we idenƟfied having obtained and reviewed the group’s documentaƟon of their policies and 
procedures relaƟng to: idenƟfying, evaluaƟng and complying with laws and regulaƟons and whether they 
were aware of any instances of non-compliance; detecƟng and responding to the risks of fraud and whether 
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; the internal controls established to miƟgate 
risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulaƟons; 

 how the group ensured it met its obligaƟons arising from it being financed by and subject to the governance 
requirements of the ESFA and OfS, and as such material compliance with these obligaƟons is required to 
ensure the group will conƟnue to receive its public funding and be authorised to operate, including around 
ensuring there is no material unauthorised use of funds and expenditure;  

 how the group and parent corporaƟon ensured it met its obligaƟons to its principal regulator, the Secretary 
of State for EducaƟon; and  

 the maƩers discussed among the audit engagement team and involving relevant internal group specialists 
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potenƟal indicators of fraud. 
 

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the 
risk of management override. We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the 
group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulaƟons that had a direct effect on the 
determinaƟon of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulaƟons we 
considered in this context included the College Accounts DirecƟon, the Office for Students’ Accounts DirecƟon, the 
Companies Act 2006,and the FE HE SORP.  

In addiƟon, we considered provisions of other laws and regulaƟons that do not have a direct effect on the financial 
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the corporaƟon’s ability to operate or to avoid a 
material penalty. These included safeguarding regulaƟons, data protecƟon regulaƟons, occupaƟonal health and 
safety regulaƟons, educaƟon and inspecƟons legislaƟon, and employment legislaƟon. 

Our procedures to respond to risks idenƟfied included the following: 

 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and tesƟng to supporƟng documentaƟon to assess compliance 
with provisions of relevant laws and regulaƟons described as having a direct effect on the financial 
statements; 

 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and tesƟng to supporƟng documentaƟon to assess the 
recogniƟon of revenue; 
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 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and tesƟng to supporƟng documentaƟon to assess the 
recogniƟon of revenue; 

 enquiring of corporaƟon’s management and members concerning actual and potenƟal liƟgaƟon and claims; 
 performing procedures to confirm material compliance with the requirements of the ESFA and OfS; 
 performing analyƟcal procedures to idenƟfy any unusual or unexpected relaƟonships that may indicate risks 

of material misstatement due to fraud; 
 reading minutes of meeƟngs of the members and reviewing internal control reports; and 
 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, tesƟng the appropriateness of 

journal entries and other adjustments; and assessing whether the judgements made in making accounƟng 
esƟmates are indicaƟve of a potenƟal bias. 
 

These procedures were considered at both the parent corporation and subsidiary level as appropriate. 
 
We also communicated relevant idenƟfied laws and regulaƟons and potenƟal fraud risks to all engagement team 
members, and remained alert to any indicaƟons of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulaƟons 
throughout the audit. 

Because of the inherent limitaƟons of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregulariƟes, including 
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulaƟon. This risk 
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulaƟon is removed from the events and transacƟons 
reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. 
The risk is also greater regarding irregulariƟes occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves 
intenƟonal concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentaƟon. 

A further descripƟon of our responsibiliƟes for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
ReporƟng Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This descripƟon forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Use of our report  

This report is made solely to the corporaƟon, in accordance with ArƟcle 22 of the College’s ArƟcles of 
Government. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the corporaƟon those maƩers we 
are required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permiƩed by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the corporaƟon, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Bishop Fleming LLP  
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditors 
Stratus House  
Emperor Way 
Exeter Business Park 
Exeter 
Devon 
EX1 3QS 
Date: 
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ReporƟng accountant’s assurance report on regularity to the CorporaƟon of City 
of Wolverhampton College (“the College”) and Secretary of State for EducaƟon 
acƟng through EducaƟon and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) 

In accordance with the terms of our engagement leƩer dated 23 July 2024 and further to the requirements and 
condiƟons of funding in ESFA’s grant funding agreements and contracts, or those of any other public funder, we 
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come to our aƩenƟon 
that would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure disbursed and income received by City of 
Wolverhampton  College during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 have not been applied to the purposes 
idenƟfied by Parliament and the financial transacƟons do not conform to the authoriƟes which govern them. 

The framework that has been applied is set out in the Post-16 Audit Code of PracƟce (“the Code”) issued by ESFA 
and in any relevant condiƟons of funding concerning adult educaƟon noƟfied by a relevant funder. 

This report is made solely to the corporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton College and ESFA in accordance with the 
terms of our engagement leƩer. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the corporaƟon of City 
of Wolverhampton College and ESFA those maƩers we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permiƩed by law, we do not accept, or assume, responsibility to anyone other than the 
corporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton College and ESFA for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have 
formed. 

RespecƟve responsibiliƟes of City of Wolverhampton College and the reporƟng accountant 

The CorporaƟon of City of Wolverhampton College is responsible, under the requirements of the Further & Higher 
EducaƟon Act 1992, subsequent legislaƟon and related regulaƟons and guidance, for ensuring that expenditure 
disbursed, and income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transacƟons 
conform to the authoriƟes which govern them. 

Our responsibiliƟes for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical guidance 
and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement leƩer and the requirements of 
the Code. We report to you whether anything has come to our aƩenƟon in carrying out our work which suggests 
that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 
2024 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transacƟons do not conform 
to the authoriƟes which govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Code issued jointly by the ESFA. We performed a limited 
assurance engagement as defined in that framework. 

he objecƟve of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain informaƟon and 
explanaƟons in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negaƟve conclusion on 
regularity and propriety. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant maƩers that 
might be idenƟfied in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a posiƟve opinion. 

Our engagement includes examinaƟon, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity of the College’s 
income and expenditure. 
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ReporƟng accountant’s assurance report on regularity to the CorporaƟon of City 
of Wolverhampton College (“the College”) and Secretary of State for EducaƟon 
acƟng through EducaƟon and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) (ConƟnued) 

The work undertaken to draw our conclusion includes: 

 An assessment of the risk of material irregularity and impropriety across the College’s acƟviƟes; 
 EvaluaƟon and validaƟon of the processes and controls in place to ensure regularity and propriety for the 

use of public funds, including the consideraƟon of the College’s self-assessment quesƟonnaire (“SAQ”); 
 Sample tesƟng of income to ensure that funds have been applied for the purposes that they were 

awarded, focused on areas assessed as high risk; 
 Confirming through enquiry and understanding the control environment that the College has policies and 

delegated authoriƟes in respect of procurement; and 
 Reviewing any evidence of impropriety resulƟng from our work and determining whether it was significant 

enough to be referenced to our regularity report. 

The list is not exhausƟve, and we performed addiƟonal procedures designed to provide us with sufficient 
appropriate evidence to express a limited assurance conclusion on regularity consistent with the requirements of 
the Code. 

Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our aƩenƟon which suggests that in all material respects, the 
expenditure disbursed, and income received during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 has not been applied 
to purposes intended by Parliament, and that the financial transacƟons do not conform to the authoriƟes that 
govern them.  

 

 

 

 

Bishop Fleming LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory auditors 
Stratus House 
Emperor Way 
Exeter Business Park 
Devon 
EX1 3QS  
 
Date:  
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  

 Notes Year ended 31 July 
2024 

 Year ended 31 July 
2023 

  Group College  Group College 

  £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
INCOME       
Funding body grants 2 38,005 38,005  31,443 31,443 
TuiƟon fees and educaƟon contracts  3 721 721  1,287 1,287 
Other grants and contracts 4 99 99  211 211 
Other income 5 4,275 4,302  2,066 2,091 
Investment income 6 398 398  34 34 
DonaƟons  7 - -  - - 
Total income  43,497 43,524  35,041 35,066 
EXPENDITURE       
Staff costs 8 19,772 19,140  19,911 19,317 
Other operaƟng expenses 9 15,870 16,529  12,663 13,282 
DepreciaƟon 12 8,352 8,352  1,781 1,781 
Interest and other finance costs 10 798 798  1,638 1,638 
Total expenditure  44,791 44,818  35,993 36,018 
       
Loss before other gains and losses  (1,294) (1,294)  (952) (952) 

Profit on disposal of assets 9 - -  21 21 
Loss before tax  (1,294) (1,294)  (931) (931) 
       
TaxaƟon 11 - -  - - 
Profit/(Loss) for the year  (1,294) (1,294)  (931) (931) 
       
Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of pension 
schemes 

18 25 (515) (515)  17,365 17,365 
       
Total Comprehensive Income for the year  (1,809) (1,809)  16,434 16,434 

       
Represented by:       
Restricted comprehensive income  - -  - - 
Unrestricted comprehensive income  (1,809) (1,809)  16,434 16,434 
Total Comprehensive Income for the year  (1,809) (1,809)  16,434 16,434 
       
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year aƩributable to:       
Non-controlling interest  - -  - - 
Group  (1,294) (1,294)  (931) (931) 
       
Total Comprehensive Income for the year:       
Non-controlling interest  - -  - - 
Group  (1,809) (1,809)  16,434 16,434 

 
The income and expenditure account is in respect of conƟnuing acƟviƟes. 
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Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves 
Group 

 Income and 
expenditure 

account 

RevaluaƟon 
reserve 

Total 
 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    
Balance at 31 July 2022 (12,786) 5,035 (7,751) 
    
Loss for the year (930) - (930) 

Other comprehensive income 17,365 - 17,365 
Transfers between revaluaƟon and income and expenditure 
reserves 

187 (187) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,622 (187) 16,435 
    
Balance at 31 July 2023 3,836 4,848 8,684 
    
Loss for the year (1,294) - (1,294) 

Other comprehensive income 2,350 - 2,350 
Transfers between revaluaƟon and income and expenditure 
reserves 

1,812 (1,812) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,868 (1,812) 1,056 
    
Balance at 31 July 2024 6,704 3,036 9,740 
    

College 

Balance at 1 August 2022 (12,786) 5,035 (7,751) 
    
Loss for the year (931) - (931) 

Other comprehensive income 17,365 - 17,365 
Transfers between revaluaƟon and income and expenditure 
reserves 

187 (187) - 

Total comprehensive Income for the year 16,622 (187) 16,435 
    
Balance at 31 July 2023 3,836 4,848 8,684 
    
Surplus for the year (1,294) - (1,294) 

Other comprehensive income 2,350 - 2,350 

Transfers between revaluaƟon and income and expenditure 
reserves 

1,812 (1,812) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,868 (1,812) 1,056 
    
Balance at 31 July 2024 6,704 3,036 9,740 
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Balance sheets as at 31 July 

 Notes      
  Group College  Group College 
  2024 2024  2023 2023 
  £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Non-current assets       

Tangible fixed assets 12 25,148 25,148  31,872 31,872 
Investments 13 - -  - - 
  25,148 25,148  31,872 31,872 
       
Current assets       
Stocks  31 31  16 16 
Debtors 14 1,814 1,846  1,677 1,706 
Cash at bank and in hand 19 5,686 5,643  3,833 3,793 
  7,531 7,520  5,526 5,515 
Less: Creditors – amounts falling 
due within one year 

15 (4,557) (4,546)  (3,482) (3,471) 

Net current assets 
assets/(liabiliƟes) 

 2,974 2,974  2,044 2,044 
       
Total assets less current liabiliƟes  28,122 28,122  33,916 33,916 
Creditors – amounts falling due 
aŌer more than one year 

16 (18,147) (18,147)  (22,155) (22,155) 

Provisions        
Defined benefit pension schemes 18 - -  - - 
Other provisions 18 (3,100) (3,100)  (3,077) (3,077) 
Total net assets/(liabiliƟes)  6,875 6,875  8,684 8,684 

       
Reserves       
Income and expenditure account 
(including pension scheme deficit 
of £nil (2022: deficit of £16,141k)) 

 3,839 3,839  3,837 3,837 

RevaluaƟon reserve  3,036 3,036  4,847 4,847 
Total reserves  6,875 6,875  8,684 8,684 

       
 

The financial statements on pages 39 to 67 were approved and authorised for issue by the CorporaƟon on 12 
December 2024 and were signed on its behalf on 12 December 2024 by: 
 
 

        
 

Mike HasƟngs        Louise Fall 

Chair of Governors       AccounƟng Officer 

12 December 2024       12 December 2024 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

     
 Notes 2024  2023 
  £’000  £’000 
Cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes     
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (1,294)  (931) 
Adjustment for non-cash items     
DepreciaƟon  8,352  1,781 
Deferred capital grants released to income  (4,171)  (564) 
(Increase)/Decrease in stocks  (15)  1 
(Increase) in debtors  (171)  (255) 
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors  994  (250) 
Increase in creditors due aŌer one year  -  - 
Decrease in provisions  (300)  (275) 
Pensions adjustments  (44)  491 
Adjustment for invesƟng or financing 
acƟviƟes 

    
Investment income  (398)  (34) 
Interest payable  798  1,638 
New finance lease  -  - 
Profit on sale of fixed assets  -  (21) 
     
Net cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes  3,751  1,581 
Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes     
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  -  21 
Investment income  97  34 
Deferred capital grants received  352  2,680 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (1,495)  (1,320) 
  (1,046)  1,415 
Cash flows from financing acƟviƟes     
Interest paid  (644)  (950) 
New loans  -  6,238 
Repayments of amounts borrowed  (179)  (6,255) 
Repayments of finance leases  (29)  (28) 
  (852)  (995) 
     
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the 
year 

 1,853  2,001 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 
year 

19 3,833  1,832 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 19 5,686  3,833 
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Notes to the Accounts 

1. Statement of accounƟng policies and esƟmaƟon techniques 

The following accounƟng policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relaƟon to the financial statements. 

Basis of preparaƟon 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended PracƟce: 
AccounƟng for Further and Higher EducaƟon 2019 (the 2019 FEHE SORP), the College Accounts DirecƟon for 2021 
to 2022, and Regulatory Advice 9: Accounts DirecƟon issues by the Office for Students, and in accordance with 
Financial ReporƟng Standard 102 – “The Financial ReporƟng Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The College is a public benefit enƟty and has therefore applied the relevant public 
benefit requirements of FRS 102. 

The preparaƟon of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain criƟcal accounƟng 
esƟmates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the College’s accounƟng policies. 

The principal accounƟng policies applied in the preparaƟon of these consolidated and separate financial statements 
are set out below.  These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling which is also the funcƟonal currency of the College. 

Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except where otherwise 
indicated. 

Basis of accounƟng 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convenƟon modified to include the 
revaluaƟon of freehold properƟes. 

Reduced Disclosures 

In accordance with the F&HE SORP 2019 and FRS 102, the College in its separate financial statements, which are 
presented alongside the consolidated financial statements, has taken advantage of the disclosure exempƟons 
available to it in respect of presentaƟon of a cash flow statement and financial instruments.  

Basis of consolidaƟon 

The consolidated financial statements include the College and its subsidiary, City of Wolverhampton College 
Enterprises Limited, controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the group has the power to govern the 
financial and operaƟng policies of an enƟty so as to obtain benefits from its acƟviƟes. Under the purchase method 
of accounƟng, the results of subsidiary and associated undertakings acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from or up to the date on which control of the 
undertaking passes. Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidaƟon.  All financial statements are 
made up to 31 July 2024. 

In accordance with FRS 102, the acƟviƟes of the student union have not been consolidated because the college 
does not control those acƟviƟes. 

Going concern  

The acƟviƟes of the College, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance, are 
set out in the Report of the Governing Body. The financial posiƟon of the College, its cash flow, liquidity and 
borrowings are presented in the Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. 
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

In determining whether the Group’s annual financial statements can be prepared on a going concern basis, the 
Governors have considered the Group’s business acƟviƟes, together with the factors likely to affect its future 
development, performance and posiƟon, the recent reclassificaƟon of colleges and the work to date with 
stakeholders to agree to refinance exisƟng debt. The review also includes the financial posiƟon of the College and 
the wider Group, their short term and long-term cash flows, liquidity posiƟon and borrowing faciliƟes. 

The college currently has £12.3m of government debt outstanding on terms negoƟated in July 2023 secured by a 
fixed charge on college assets. The terms of the exisƟng agreement are fixed payments with the term varying in 
accordance with annual repricing based on the Public Works Loan Board 1 year rate at 1 April each year. The 
college’s forecasts and financial projecƟons indicate that it will be able to operate within this exisƟng facility for the 
foreseeable future. 

Consequently, the CorporaƟon is confident that the College will have sufficient funds to conƟnue to meet its 
liabiliƟes as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and have 
therefore prepared these statements on a going concern basis. 

RecogniƟon of income  

Revenue grant funding 

Government revenue grants include funding body recurrent grants and other grants and are accounted for under 
the accrual model as permiƩed by FRS 102. Funding body recurrent grants are measured in line with best esƟmates 
for the period of what is receivable and depend on the parƟcular income stream involved. Any under achievement 
for the Adult EducaƟon Budget (AEB) is adjusted for and reflected in the level of recurrent grant recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The final grant income is normally determined with the conclusion of the 
year end reconciliaƟon process with the funding body following the year end, and the results of any funding audits. 
16-18 funding is not normally subject to reconciliaƟon and is therefore not subject to contract adjustments. 

Long funded and ESFA funding for co-investment model apprenƟceships income is measured in line with best 
esƟmates of the provision delivered in year. 

The recurrent grant from Office for Students represents the funding allocaƟons aƩributable to the current financial 
year and is credited direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Where part of a government grant is deferred, the deferred element is recognised as deferred income within 
creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year and creditors due aŌer more than one year as 
appropriate. 

Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources are recognised in income when the College is 
enƟtled to the income and performance related condiƟons have been met. Income received in advance of 
performance related condiƟons being met is recognised as deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet 
and released to income as the condiƟons are met. 

Capital grant funding 

Government capital grants are capitalised, held as deferred income and recognised in income over the expected 
useful life of the asset, under the accrual model as permiƩed by FRS 102. Other, non-governmental, capital grants 
are recognised in income when the College is enƟtled to the funds subject to any performance related condiƟons 
being met. Income received in advance of performance related condiƟons being met is recognised as deferred 
income within creditors on the balance sheet and released to income as condiƟons are met. 

Fee income 

Income from tuiƟon fees including employer funding for co-investment funded apprenƟceships is stated gross of 
any expenditure which is not a discount and is recognised in the period for which it is received. 

Investment income 

All income from short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is 
earned on a receivable basis.  
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

Agency arrangements 

The College acts as an agent in the collecƟon and payment of certain discreƟonary learner support funds (DLSF). 
Related payments received from the funding bodies and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from 
the income and expenditure of the College where the College is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal 
economic benefit related to the transacƟon. 

AccounƟng for post-employment benefits 

Post-employment benefits to employees of the College are principally provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
(TPS) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are defined benefit plans, which are externally 
funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension. 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme. ContribuƟons to the TPS are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 
employees’ working lives with the College in such a way that the pension cost is a substanƟally level percentage of 
current and future pensionable payroll. The contribuƟons are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of 
valuaƟons using a prospecƟve benefit method. 

The TPS is a mulƟ-employer scheme and there is insufficient informaƟon available to use defined benefit 
accounƟng. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribuƟon plan and the contribuƟons recognised as an 
expense in the income statement in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 

West Midlands Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

The LGPS is a funded scheme. The assets of the LGPS are measured using closing fair values. LGPS liabiliƟes are 
measured using the projected unit credit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality 
corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabiliƟes. The actuarial valuaƟons are obtained at least 
triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operaƟng surplus are the current 
service costs and the costs of scheme introducƟons, benefit changes, seƩlements and curtailments. They are 
included as part of staff costs as incurred. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligaƟon and interest income on the scheme assets, 
calculated by mulƟplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to 
discount the benefit obligaƟons. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual 
return on the scheme assets is recognised in interest and other finance costs. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in actuarial gains and losses. 

Short term employment benefits 

Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are recognised as an 
expense in the year in which the employees render service to the College. The cost of any unused holiday 
enƟtlement the College expects to pay in future periods is recognised in the period the employees’ services are 
rendered. 

Enhanced pensions 

The actual cost of any enhanced ongoing pension to a former member of staff is paid by a college annually. An 
esƟmate of the expected future cost of any enhancement to the ongoing pension of a former member of staff is 
charged in full to comprehensive income in the year that the member of staff reƟres. In subsequent years a charge 
is made to provisions in the balance sheet using the enhanced pension spreadsheet provided by the funding bodies. 
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Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciaƟon and accumulated impairment losses. 

Land and buildings 

Land and buildings are stated at cost (or deemed cost for land and buildings held at valuaƟon at the date of 
transiƟon to FRS 102) less accumulated depreciaƟon and accumulated impairment losses. 

ProperƟes under construcƟon  

ProperƟes in the course of construcƟon are accounted for at cost less any idenƟfied impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees and other directly aƩributable costs that are necessary to bring the property to operaƟng 
condiƟon. They are not depreciated unƟl they are brought into use. 

Equipment 

Equipment cosƟng less than £1,000 per individual item or set of items acquired together is recognised as 
expenditure in the period of acquisiƟon. All other equipment is capitalised and recognised at cost less accumulated 
depreciaƟon and accumulated impairment losses. 

DepreciaƟon and residual values 

Freehold land is not depreciated. DepreciaƟon on other assets is calculated, using the straight line basis, to write 
off the cost of each asset to its esƟmated residual value over its expected useful lives, as follows: 

 Freehold buildings   - 50 years 
 Plant and machinery   - 10 years/20 years 
 Football pitches   - 15 years 
 Major adaptaƟons to buildings  - 10 to 15 years 
 Other equipment   - 5 years 
 Computer equipment   - 4 years  
 Motor vehicles   - 3 years  
 Equipment loans to learners  - charged to SOCI 

With the closure of the Paget Road campus planned for October 2025 the remaining Net Book Value of related 
assets has been accelerated to ensure all assets have a £nil Net Book Value at closure date.  Affected assets are 
classified as freehold buildings or major adaptaƟons to buildings.  All other assets either have a £nil Net Book Value 
or are being repurposed within the College. 

The Metro 1 campus forms part of the new City Learning Quarter and has been parƟally demolished to facilitate 
the new development.  The remaining Net Book Value has been depreciated to £nil during 2023/24. 

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the reporƟng date, aŌer esƟmated costs of disposal, for the asset 
as if it were at the age and in the condiƟon expected at the end of its useful life. 

Subsequent costs, including replacement parts, are only capitalised when it is probable that such costs will generate 
future economic benefits. Any replaced parts are then derecognised. All other costs of repairs and maintenance 
are expenses as incurred. 

Impairments of fixed assets  

An assessment is made at each reporƟng date of whether there are indicaƟons that a fixed asset may be impaired 
or that an impairment loss previously recognised has fully or parƟally reversed. If such indicaƟons exist, an esƟmate 
is made of the recoverable amount of the asset. 
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Shorƞalls between the carrying value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts, being the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value-in-use, are recognised as impairment losses. Impairment of revalued assets, are treated 
as a revaluaƟon loss. All other impairment losses are recognised in comprehensive income.  

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. 
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in comprehensive income or, for revalued assets, as a revaluaƟon 
gain. On reversal of an impairment loss, the depreciaƟon or amorƟsaƟon is adjusted to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount (less any residual value) over its remaining useful life. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leased assets 

Costs in respect of operaƟng leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. Any lease premiums or incenƟves relaƟng to leases signed aŌer 1 August 
2014 are spread over the minimum lease term. 

Leasing agreements which transfer to the college substanƟally all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset 
are treated as finance leases. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised iniƟally at the fair value of the leased asset (or, if lower, the present 
value of minimum lease payments) at the incepƟon of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the balance sheet as an obligaƟon under finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are included in tangible 
fixed assets and depreciated and assessed for impairment losses in the same way as owned assets. 

Minimum lease payments are apporƟoned between the finance charge and the reducƟon of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease in proporƟon to the capital element 
outstanding. 

Investments 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment in the individual financial statements. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost (using the first in first out method) and net realisable value, being 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and 
defecƟve items.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdraŌs. Deposits are repayable on demand if 
they are in pracƟce available within 24 hours without penalty. 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily converƟble to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value. An investment qualifies as a cash equivalent when it has maturity of 3 
months or less from the date of acquisiƟon. 

Financial instruments 

The College has chosen to adopt SecƟons 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in full in respect of financial instruments. 

Financial assets and liabiliƟes 
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Financial assets and financial liabiliƟes are recognised when the College becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  

Financial liabiliƟes and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s contractual 
obligaƟons, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form. 

All financial assets and liabiliƟes are iniƟally measured at transacƟon price (including transacƟon costs), except for 
those financial assets measured at fair value through the profit or loss, which are iniƟally measured at fair value 
(which is normally the transacƟon price excluding transacƟon costs), unless the arrangement consƟtutes a 
financing transacƟon. A financial asset or financial liability that is payable or receivable in one year is measured at 
the undiscounted amount expected to be received or paid net of impairment, unless it is a financing transacƟon. If 
an arrangement consƟtutes a financing transacƟon, the financial asset or financial liability is measured at the 
present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabiliƟes are offset only when there is a current legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and the intenƟon to either seƩle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and seƩle the 
liability simultaneously. 

De-recogniƟon of financial assets and liabiliƟes 

A financial asset is de-recognised only when the contractual rights to cash flows expire or are seƩled, substanƟally 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to another party, or if some significant risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in its 
enƟrety to an unrelated third party. A financial liability (or part thereof) is de-recognised when the obligaƟon 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Foreign currency translaƟon 

TransacƟons denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transacƟon. Monetary assets and liabiliƟes denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the end of the financial period with all resulƟng exchange differences being taken to income in 
the period in which they arise. 

TaxaƟon 

The College is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and therefore it 
meets the definiƟon of a charitable company for UK corporaƟon tax purposes. Accordingly, the College is potenƟally 
exempt from taxaƟon in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by secƟons 478-488 
of the CorporaƟon Tax Act 2010 or SecƟon 256 of the TaxaƟon of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that 
such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.  

The College is parƟally exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover around 5% of the VAT 
charged on its inputs.  Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs and added to the cost of 
tangible fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.  

The College’s subsidiary companies are subject to corporaƟon tax and VAT in the same way as any commercial 
organisaƟon. 

Provisions and conƟngent liabiliƟes 

Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or construcƟve obligaƟon as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to seƩle the obligaƟon and the amount of the 
obligaƟon can be reliably measured. 

Where the effect of the Ɵme value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to seƩle the obligaƟon 
is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The  



Report and Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 July 2024 

 

50 

 

Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income in the period 
it arises. 

A conƟngent liability arises from a past event that gives the College a possible obligaƟon whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
College. ConƟngent liabiliƟes also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it 
is not probable that an ouƞlow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligaƟon cannot be reliably 
measured  

ConƟngent liabiliƟes are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

CriƟcal accounƟng judgements and esƟmaƟon uncertainty  

EsƟmates and judgements are conƟnually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectaƟons of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

CriƟcal areas of judgement  

In preparing these financial statements, management have made the following judgements:  

 Determine whether leases entered into by the College either as a lessor or a lessee are operaƟng or finance 
leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis.  

CriƟcal accounƟng esƟmates and assumpƟons  

Tangible fixed assets  

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, where appropriate. 
The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of 
factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovaƟon, maintenance programmes, economic 
uƟlisaƟon and physical condiƟon of the assets are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues 
such as future market condiƟons and the remaining life of the asset.  

Local Government Pension Scheme  

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumpƟons. The assumpƟons used in 
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumpƟons, which 
are disclosed in note 25, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward 
approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuaƟon performed at 31 March 2022 has been used 
by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 July 2023. Any differences between the figures derived from 
the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuaƟon would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. 

Impairment of fixed assets  

The College considers whether tangible fixed assets are impaired. Where an indicaƟon of impairment is idenƟfied 
the esƟmaƟon of the recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash-generaƟng unit is 
required. These will require an esƟmaƟon of the future cash flows and selecƟon of an appropriate discount rate in 
order to calculate the net present value of those cash flows. 

  



Report and Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 July 2024 

 

51 

 

Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

2 Funding body grants      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Recurrent grants      
EducaƟon and Skills Funding 
Agency - Adult 

16,358 16,358  11,513 11,513 
EducaƟon and Skills Funding 
Agency - ApprenƟceships 

1,776 1,776  2,658 2,658 

EducaƟon and Skills Funding 
Agency - 16-18 

16,994 16,994  15,435 15,435 
Office for Students 69 69  87 87 
Specific grants      
EducaƟon and Skills Funding 
Agency - Other 

1,246 1,246  1,315 1,315 
Releases of government capital 
grants  

1,562 1,562  435 435 
      
Total 38,005 38,005  31,443 31,443 

 

 

 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Grant income from the Office for 
Students 

69 69  87 87 
Grant income from other bodies 37,936 37,936  31,356 31,356 
Total Grants 38,005 38,005  31,443 31,443 
      
Fee income for taught awards 
(exclusive of VAT) 

721 721  1,287 1,287 
Total TuiƟon Fees and EducaƟon 
Contracts (Note 3) 

721 721  1,287 1,287 

      
Total Grant and Fee Income 38,726 38,726  32,730 32,730 
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3 TuiƟon fees and educaƟon contracts      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Adult educaƟon fees 244 244  468 468 
ApprenƟceship fees and contracts 25 25  37 37 
Fees for FE loan supported courses 122 122  355 355 
Fees for HE loan supported courses 102 102  210 210 
Total tuiƟon fees 494 494  1,070 1,070 
EducaƟon contracts 227 227  217 217 
      
Total 721 721  1,287 1,287 

 

4 Other grants and contracts      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Erasmus 99 99  161 161 
Other Grant Income - -  50 50 
      
Total 99 99  211 211 

 
 

5 Other income      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Catering and residences 55 55  66 66 
Other income generaƟng acƟviƟes 1,611 1,638  1,870 1,895 
Release of non-funding body grants 2,609 2,609  130 130 
      
Total 4,275 4,302  2,066 2,091 
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6 Investment income      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Other interest receivable 97 97  34 34 
Net interest on defined pension liability (note 
18,25) 

301 301  - - 

      
Total 398 398  34 34 

 

7 DonaƟons – College Only      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Unrestricted donaƟons - -  - - 
      
Total - -  - - 

 

8 Staff costs – Group and College    

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the Group & College during 
the year was: 

 2024 2024  2024 2023 
 Group  College   Group  College 

 No. No.  No. No. 
Teaching Staff 180 180  181 181 
Non-teaching Staff 418 375  407 365 

        
 598 555  588 546 

 

Group Staff costs for the above persons    
 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Wages and salaries 15,040  14,594 
Social security costs 1,414  1,377 
Other pension costs  3,130  3,533 
    
Payroll sub total 19,584  19,504 
Restructuring costs – Contractual 188  407 
    
Total Staff costs 19,772  19,911 
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The College (and Group) has made 14 severance payments in the year (2022/23: 25), disclosed in the following 
bands: 
 

  2024  2023 
  No.  No. 
£0 to £25,000  13  19 
£25,001 to £50,000  1  5 
£50,001 to £100,000  -  1 
£100,001 to £150,000  -  - 
£150,000+  -  - 
  14  25 

 

Included in staff restructuring costs of £188,012 (2023: £407,000) are special severance payments totalling £nil 
(2023: £nil). 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, direcƟng and 
controlling the acƟviƟes of the College and were represented by the College Leadership Team. 
 
In 2022/23 key management personnel comprised the Principal, Deputy Chief ExecuƟve, Deputy Principal, two 
Assistant Principals and the Director of Finance. 
 
Staff costs include compensaƟon paid to key management personnel for loss of office (£nil). 
 

Emoluments of Key management personnel, AccounƟng Officer and other higher paid staff 

 2024  2023 
 No.  No. 
The number of key management personnel 
including the AccounƟng Officer was:* 

7  4 

 

The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual emoluments (which include 
pension contribuƟons but exclude naƟonal insurance contribuƟons), including benefits in kind, in the following 
ranges was: 
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 Key management 
personnel* 

 Other staff 

 2024 2023  2024 2023 
 No. No.  No. No. 
£10,001 to £20,000 p.a. 1 1  - - 
£40,001 to £50,000 p.a. 1 -  - - 
£50,001 to £60,000 p.a. - -  - - 
£60,001 to £70,000 p.a. - -   6 
£70,001 to £80,000 p.a. - 1  1 - 
£80,001 to £90,000p.a. - 2  - - 
£90,001 to £100,000 p.a. 2 -  - - 
£110,001 to £120,000 p.a. - -  - - 
£120,000 to £130,000 p.a. - 2  - - 
£130,001 to £140,000 p.a. 2 -  - - 
£170,001 to £180,000 p.a. - 1  - - 
£180,001 to £190,000 p.a. 1 -  - - 
 7 7  10 6 

*During the 2024 year there was one starters and two leaver within key management personnel (2023:  three and 
one). The bandings above include the annualised emoluments of all starters and leavers.  

Key management personnel compensaƟon is made up as follows: 

 2024  2023 
£’000  £’000 

Basic salary 614  605 
Performance related pay and bonus -  - 
Benefits in kind -  - 
 614   605 
Pension contribuƟons 96  97 
    
Total key management personnel compensaƟon 710  702 

 
The above compensaƟon includes amounts paid to the Principal and Chief ExecuƟve Officer who is the AccounƟng 
Officer and who is also the highest paid member of staff. Their pay and remuneraƟon is as follows: 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Basic salary 190  181 
Performance related pay and bonus -  - 
Benefits in kind -  - 
 190  181 
Pension contribuƟons -  - 
    
Total 190  181 

 

The remuneraƟon package of key management staff, including the Principal and Chief ExecuƟve Officer, is subject 
to annual review by the RemuneraƟon CommiƩee of the governing body. The governing body adopted AssociaƟon 
of Colleges’ Senior Staff RemuneraƟon Code in July 2019 and assesses pay in line with its principles. 
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RelaƟonship of Principal and Chief ExecuƟve Pay and RemuneraƟon expressed as a mulƟple 

 2024  2023 
Principal’s basic salary as a mulƟple of the 
median of all staff 

5.9  6.2 

Principal and CEO’s total remuneraƟon as a 
mulƟple of the median of all staff 

4.9  5.0 

Governors’ remuneraƟon 

The AccounƟng Officer and the staff members only receive remuneraƟon in respect of services they provide 
undertaking their role of Principal and staff members under contracts of employment and not in respect of their 
roles as governors. The other members of the CorporaƟon did not receive any payments from the College in respect 
of their roles as governors. 

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year was £nil; 0 governors (2023: £nil; 0 
governors). This represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of pocket expenses incurred in aƩending 
Governor meeƟngs and charity events in their official capacity. 

9 Other operaƟng expenses      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Teaching costs 9,882 9,882  6,143 6,143 
Non-teaching costs 3,934 3,934  5,012 5,011 
Premises costs 2,054 2,713  1,508 2,128 
      
Total 15,870 16,529  12,663 13,282 

 

Other operaƟng expenses include:      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Auditors’ remuneraƟon:      
 Financial statements audit 50 45  50 45 
 Internal audit 21 21  22 22 
Profit on disposal of fixed assets  - -  21 21 
Hire of assets under operaƟng leases 424 424  295 295 

 

Access and ParƟcipaƟon Spending      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Access investment 285 285  274 274 
Financial support to students 8 8  6 6 
Disability support 2 2  1 1 
Research and evaluaƟon (relaƟng to access and 
parƟcipaƟon) 

4 4  4 4 

 



Report and Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 July 2024 

 

57 

 

Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

10 Interest and other finance costs      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
On bank loans, overdraŌs and other loans 642 642  950 950 
On finance leases 2 2  3 3 
Net interest on defined pension liability (note 18, 
25) 

154 154  685 685 

      
Total 798 798  1,638 1,638 

 

11 TaxaƟon      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
United Kingdom corporaƟon tax - -  - - 
      
Total - -  - - 

 

12 Tangible fixed assets (Group and College) 
 Land and buildings Equipment Assets 

Under 
ConstrucƟon 

Total 

 Freehold Long 
leasehold 

   

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or deemed cost      
At 1 August 2023 43,853 7,639 10,491 55 62,038 
AddiƟons 403 - 999 226 1,628 
Transfer from Assets under 
ConstrucƟon 

- - -  - 

At 31 July 2024 44,256 7,639 11,490 281 63,666 
      
DepreciaƟon      
At 1 August 2023 18,061 3,078 9,027 - 30,166 
Charge for the year 939 140 643 - 1,722 
Accelerated charge for the year 2,209 4,421 - - 6,630 
At 31 July 2024 21,209 7,639 9,670 - 38,518 
      
Net book value at 31 July 2024 23,047 - 1,820 281 25,148 
            
Net book value at 31 July 2023 25,792 4,561 1,464 1,285 31,872 
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With the closure of the Paget Road campus planned for October 2025 the remaining Net Book Value of related 
assets has been accelerated to ensure all assets have a £nil Net Book Value at closure date.  Affected assets are 
classified as freehold buildings or major adaptaƟons to buildings.  All other assets either have a £nil Net Book Value 
or are being repurposed within the College. 

The Metro 1 campus forms part of the new City Learning Quarter and has been parƟally demolished to facilitate 
the new development.  The remaining Net Book Value has been depreciated to £nil during 2023/24. 

If inherited land and buildings had not been revalued before being deemed as cost on transiƟon, they would have 
been included at the following historical cost amounts: 

 £’000 
Cost Nil 
Aggregate depreciaƟon based on cost  Nil 
  
Net book value based on cost Nil 

 

13 Non-current investments   
 2024 2023 
 £ £ 
Investments in subsidiary companies 1 1 
Total 1 1 

The college owns 100 per cent of the issued ordinary £1 shares of City of Wolverhampton College Enterprises 
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales. The principal business acƟviƟes of City of Wolverhampton 
College Enterprises Limited is the provision of cleaning and security services. 

 

14 Trade and other receivables      
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Amounts falling due within one year:      
Trade debtors 204 204  609 609 
Amounts owed by group undertakings:      
   Subsidiary undertakings - 32  - 29 
Other debtors 214 214  29 29 
Prepayments and accrued income 479 479  399 399 
Amounts owed by the ESFA 917 917  640 640 
      
Total 1,814 1,846  1,677 1,706 
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15 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Bank loans and overdraŌs - -  - - 
Other loans 123 123  233 233 
Trade creditors 185 185  502 502 
Amounts owed to group undertakings:      
   Subsidiary undertakings - -  - - 
Other taxaƟon and social security 750 739  418 407 
Accruals and deferred income 2,744 2,744  1,654 1,654 
Holiday pay accrual 45 45  61 61 
Government capital grants 692 692  585 585 
Finance lease 15 15  29 29 
Amounts owed to the ESFA 3 3  - - 
      
Total 4,557 4,546  3,482 3,471 

 

16 Creditors: amounts falling due aŌer one year 
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Other loans 12,210 12,210  12,277 12,277 
Government capital grants 5,937 5,937  9,863 9,863 
Finance lease 0 0  15 15 
      
Total 18,147 18,147  22,155 22,155 

 

17 Maturity of debt 
(a) Bank loans and overdraŌs 
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
In one year or less - -  - - 
Between one and two years - -  - - 
Between two and five years - -  - - 
In five years or more - -  - - 
      
Total - -  - - 

 

In July 2023 the College’s commercial debt was refinanced, with new loan finance secured through the government. 
The terms of the agreement are fixed capital and interest payments, with the term varying in accordance with 
annual repricing based on the Public Works Loan Board 1 year rate at 1 April each year. 
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The current interest rate is 5.60% subject to annual review on 1 April.  The loans are secured against all property at 
the Paget Road and Wellington Road campuses.  The debt is split into two loans, one maturing on 31 December 
2027, and the second on 31 March 2028. 

Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

(b) Other loans 
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
In one year or less 123 123  233 233 
Between one and two years 4,619 4,619  235 235 
Between two and five years 1,215 1,215  5,706 5,706 
In five years or more 6,376 6,376  6,337 6,337 
      
Total 12,333 12,333  12,511 12,511 

 

(c) Finance Leases 
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
In one year or less 15 15  29 29 
Between one and two years - -  15 15 
Between two and five years - -  - - 
In five years or more - -  - - 
      
Total 15 15  44 44 

Finance lease obligaƟons are secured on the assets to which they relate. 

 

18 Provisions    
 Group and College 
 Defined benefit 

obligaƟons 
Enhanced 
pensions 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
At 1 August 2023 - 3,077 3,077 
Payments made in the period (1,384) (301) (1,685) 
Actuarial (gains) / losses (2,520) 170 (2,350) 
Interest (301) 154 (147) 
Current service cost 1,340 - 1,340 
Past Service Cost - - - 
AdministraƟve charges - - - 
WriƩen down against Actuarial Gain 2,865* - 2,865 
At 31 July 2024 - 3,100 3,100 

 
Defined benefit obligaƟons relate to the liabiliƟes under the College’s membership of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme. Further details are given in Note 25. 
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*The annual review has again returned a pension asset.  As the asset will not crystalise the college has not 
recognised it on the balance sheet.  At 31 July 2024 a £nil obligaƟon has been recognised in the balance sheet with 
the asset wriƩen down against the actuarial gain.  

Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

The enhanced pension provision relates to the cost of staff that have already leŌ the College’s employ and 
commitments for reorganisaƟon costs from which the College cannot reasonably withdraw at the balance sheet 
date. This provision has been recalculated in accordance with guidance issued by the funding bodies and includes 
an actuarial loss for the year. 

The principal assumpƟons for this calculaƟon are: 

 2024  2023 
    
Price inflaƟon 2.80%  3.00% 
Discount rate 4.80%  5.05% 
    

 

19 Cash and cash equivalents  
 2024 2024  2023 2023 
 Group College  Group College 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Cash at bank and in hand 5,686 5,643  3,833 3,793 
OverdraŌs - -  - - 
      

Total cash and cash equivalents 5,686 5,643  3,833 3,793 

 

20 Consolidated analysis of changes in net funds 
  At 1 

August 
2023 

Cash 
flow 

New 
finance 

leases 

Other 
non-cash 
changes 

Changes 
in market 

value 
and 

exchange 
rates 

At 31 July 
2024 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cash in hand, and at bank 3,833 1,853 - - - 5,686 
Bank overdraŌs - - - - - - 
Debt factoring - - - - - -  

      
Bank loans - - - - - - 
Other Loans (12,511) 178 - - - (12,333) 
Finance leases (44) 29 - - - (15) 
Current asset investments - - - - - - 
Net debt (8,722) 2,060 - - - (6,662) 
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

21 Capital and other commitments 
 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Commitments contracted for at 31 July 401  - 

 

22 Lease obligaƟons 
At 31 July the College had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operaƟng leases as follows: 
 Group and College 
 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Future minimum lease payments due    
    
Land and buildings    
Not later than one year 465  183 
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,786  738 
Later than five years 532  643 
 2,783  1,564 

    
Other    
Not later than one year 132  115 
Later than one year and not later than five years 134  183 
Later than five years -  - 
 266  298 

    
Total lease payments due 3,049  1,862 

 

23 ConƟngencies 
The College has no conƟngent liabiliƟes as at 31 July 2024 (2023: £nil). 

 

24 Events aŌer the reporƟng period 
There were no events aŌer the reporƟng period. 
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

25 Defined benefit obligaƟons 
 
The College’s employees belong to two principal post-employment benefit plans: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the West Midlands Pension Fund Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff. Both are mulƟ-employer defined-benefit plans. 

 

Total pension cost for the year  2024  2023 
  £’000  £’000 
NaƟonal Employment Savings Trust (NEST)  9  9 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme: contribuƟons paid  1,652  1,525 
Local Government Pension Scheme:      

ContribuƟons paid 1,512  1,355  
FRS 102 (28) charge  (44)  491  
Pension Arrears -  154  

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

 1,468  2,000 

Total Pension Cost for Year within staff costs  3,129  3,534 

 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme RegulaƟons 2014. These regulaƟons apply to teachers in schools, colleges and other educaƟonal 
establishments. Membership is automaƟc for teachers and lecturers at eligible insƟtuƟons. Teachers and lecturers 
are able to opt out of the TPS. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a “pay as you go” basis – these contribuƟons, along 
with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the above Act. 
ReƟrement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 

Under the definiƟons set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a mulƟ-employer pension plan. The College is unable to 
idenƟfy its share of the underlying assets and liabiliƟes of the plan. 

Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of the exempƟon in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contribuƟons 
to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribuƟon plan. The College has set out above the informaƟon available on 
the plan and the implicaƟons for the College in terms of the anƟcipated contribuƟon rates. 

ValuaƟon of the Teachers' Pension Scheme 

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (ValuaƟons and Employer Cost Cap) DirecƟons 2014 published by HM 
Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contribuƟons. Actuarial scheme 
valuaƟons are dependent on assumpƟons about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other 
factors. The latest actuarial valuaƟon of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020. The valuaƟon report was 
published by the Department for EducaƟon on 26 October 2023. 
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

The key elements of the previous valuaƟon as at 31 March 2016 which was effecƟve for the year ended 31 July 
2024 are: 

 Employer contribuƟon rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administraƟon levy) 
 Total scheme liabiliƟes (pensions currently in payment and the esƟmated cost of future benefits) for service to 

the effecƟve date of £218,100 million and noƟonal assets (esƟmated future contribuƟons together with the 
noƟonal investments held at the valuaƟon date) of £196,100 million, giving a noƟonal past service deficit of 
£22,000 million 

 The SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the noƟonal investment return. The current SCAPE rate is 
2.4% above the rate of CPI, assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. 
The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The assumed nominal rate of return including earnings 
growth is 4.45%. 

The 2020 valuaƟon result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2024 and effecƟve unƟl 31 March 2027. The 
employer contribuƟon rate for this period will be 28.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administraƟon 
levy). 

The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £1,525,036 (2022: £1,559,225). A copy of the 
valuaƟon report and supporƟng documentaƟon is on the Teachers' Pensions website. 

(hƩps://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2019/04/teachers-pensions-valuaƟon-report.aspx) for 
2016 and www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2023/10/valuaƟon-result.aspx for 2020. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit plan, with the assets held in separate funds administered by City of 
Wolverhampton Council. The total contribuƟons made for the year ended 31 July 2023 were £1,932,496 (2023: 
£1,751,750), of which employer’s contribuƟons totalled £1,511,718 (2023: £1,355,003) and employees’ 
contribuƟons totalled £420,778 (2023: £396,747). The agreed contribuƟon rates for future years are 21.8% for the 
College and range from 5.5% to 12.5% for employees, depending on salary according to a naƟonal scale. 

Principal Actuarial AssumpƟons 

The following informaƟon is based upon a full actuarial valuaƟon of the fund at 31 March 2019 updated to 31 July 
2023 by a qualified independent actuary. 

 At 31 July 2024  At 31 July 2023 

Rate of increase in salaries 3.75%  4.00% 
Future pensions increase 2.75%  3.00% 
Discount rate for scheme liabiliƟes 5.00%  5.05% 
InflaƟon assumpƟon (CPI) 2.75%  3.00% 
CommutaƟon of pensions to lump sums 50%  50% 
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

The current mortality assumpƟons include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The 
assumed life expectaƟons on reƟrement age 65 are: 

 At 31 July 2024  At 31 July 2023 
 years  years 
ReƟring today    
Males 20.3  20.4 
Females 23.3  23.3 
ReƟring in 20 years    
Males 21  21.2 
Females 24.8  24.9 

 
The college’s share of the assets in the plan at the balance sheet date and the expected rates of return were: 

 Long-
term 

rate of 
return 

expected 
at 31 

July 2024 

Fair 
Value at 

31 July 
2024 

 Long-
term 

rate of 
return 

expected 
at 31 

July 2023 

Fair 
Value at 

31 July 
2023 

  £’000   £’000 
EquiƟes 51% 38,728  68% 47,963 
Gilts - -  - - 
Other bonds - -  - - 
Property 7% 5,316  7% 4,938 
Cash 7% 5,316  4% 2,821 
Other 35% 26,578  21% 14,812 
Total fair value of plan assets  75,938   70,534 

      
Actual return on plan assets  5,734   (201) 

 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Fair value of plan assets 75,937  70,534 
Present value of plan liabiliƟes (67,145)  (64,607) 
Net pensions asset/(liability) (Note 18) 8,792*  5,927* 

 
*The annual review has again returned a pension asset.  As the asset will not crystalise the college has not 
recognised it on the balance sheet.  At 31 July 2024 a £nil obligaƟon has been recognised in the balance sheet with 
the asset wriƩen down against the actuarial gain.  
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the plan are as follows: 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Amounts included in staff costs    
Current service cost  1,340  1,989 
AdministraƟon expenses -  - 
Total  1,340  1,989 

 

Amounts included in investment (expense) 

Net interest on the net defined benefit pension 
liability 

301  (573) 

 301  (573) 

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Return on pension plan assets -  - 
Other actuarial losses 2,180  (2,625) 
Changes in assumpƟons underlying the present 
value of plan liabiliƟes  

2,555  19,078 

Experience (loss) / gain on defined benefit 
obligaƟon 

(2,215)  6,679 

Asset not recognised (8,792)*  (5,927)* 

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

(6,272)  17,205 

 

Movement in net defined benefit (liability) during year 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Net defined benefit (liability) in scheme at 1 
August  

5,927  (16,141) 

Movement in year:    
 Current service cost (1,340)  (1,989) 
 Employer contribuƟons 1,384  1,498 
 Net interest on the defined (liability)/asset 301  (573) 
 Actuarial gain 2,520  23,132 
 AdministraƟon expenses -  - 
Net defined benefit (liability) at 31 July  8,792*  5,927* 

 
*The annual review has again returned a pension asset.  As the asset will not crystalise the college has not 
recognised it on the balance sheet.  At 31 July 2024 a £nil obligaƟon has been recognised in the balance sheet with 
the asset wriƩen down against the actuarial gain.  
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 

Asset and Liability ReconciliaƟon 

 2024  2023 
 £’000  £’000 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligaƟons 
    
Defined benefit obligaƟons at start of period 64,607  85,445 
Current service cost 1,340  1,989 
Interest cost 3,253  2,997 
ContribuƟons by Scheme parƟcipants 386  399 
Changes in financial assumpƟons (2,420)  (17,583) 
Changes in demographic assumpƟons (135)  (1,495) 
Experience (gain) / loss on defined benefit 
obligaƟon 

2,215  (5,260) 
EsƟmated benefits paid (2,101)  (1,885) 
Defined benefit obligaƟons at end of period 67,145  64,607 

    
Changes in fair value of plan assets 
    
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 70,534  69,304 
Interest on plan assets 3,554  2,424 
Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on 
the net defined benefit liability) 

 -  - 

Other actuarial losses 2,180  (1,206) 
Employer contribuƟons 1,384  1,498 
ContribuƟons by Scheme parƟcipants 386  399 
EsƟmated benefits paid (2,101)  (1,855) 
AdministraƟon Expenses -  - 
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 75,937  70,564 

 

These results include an allowance to reflect the Court of Appeal judgement in respect of the McCloud and Sargeant 
cases which relate to age discriminaƟon. This allowance was incorporated into the accounƟng results as at 31 July 
2019, and have been rolled forward and remeasured to obtain the accounƟng results as at 31 July 2023. 

2023 Pension Increase order 

The 2023 Pension Increase (PI) Order is used to set the level of pension increases, deferred revaluaƟon and CARE 
revaluaƟon with effect from 1 April 2023. This is expected to be significantly higher than the CPI assumpƟon as at 
31 July 2022. The PI Order is typically set with reference to the change in CPI inflaƟon over the 12 months to the 
previous September (announced in October), so the 2023 PI Order is expected to be set with reference to the 
September 2022 CPI. 
 
The change in CPI over the 12 months to August 2022 was 9.9% and so a similar increase over the 12 months to 
September 2022 is expected. The actual 2023 PI Order is not automaƟcally set with reference to the September 
CPI. This is only known with certainty in March, once this has been approved by Parliament. It is possible that the 
actual PI Order will be lower than the change in CPI over the 12 months to September 2022. 
 
The value of the obligaƟons arising due to recogniƟon of the 2023 PI Order based on the expected 2023 PI Order 
of 9.9% applying in 2023 to pensions in payment, deferred pensions and CARE revaluaƟon has been recognised as 
an addiƟonal actuarial loss of £5,037,000.  
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Notes to the Accounts (ConƟnued) 
26 Related party transacƟons 

 
The following employees of City of Wolverhampton Council have acted as governors of the College:  

Ms A Shannon* Chief Accountant    Appointed 23/07/18 (resigned 29/3/21) 
Mr M Taylor Deputy Chief ExecuƟve   Appointed 25/02/19 (Chair from 25/02/19) 

*Ms A Shannon remains as an Associate Member of the Audit CommiƩee but is no longer a Governor. 

During the year transacƟons with City of Wolverhampton Council included purchases totalling £28,278 (2023: 
£28,996) and sales totalling £1,164,435 (2023: £975,220). At the year-end balances on the purchase ledger totalled 
£nil (2023: £nil). Balances on the sales ledger at 31 July 2023 totalled £nil (2023: £nil). 

During the year transacƟons with City of Wolverhampton College Enterprises Ltd, where Malcolm Cowgill, Peter 
Merry, Louise Fall and Mark Taylor are Directors, included purchases totalling £634,810 (2023: £620,272).  At the 
year-end balances on the purchase ledger totalled £nil (2023: £nil). 

During the year transacƟons with Wolverhampton Homes, where Ian Gardner declared an interest, included 
purchases totalling £500 (2023: £1,500) and sales totalling £2,170 (2023: £14,652).  At the year-end there were no 
outstanding balances. 

During the year transacƟons with William Gough, where John Gough declared an interest, included purchases 
totalling £101,663 (2023: £1,500) and sales totalling £1,293 (2023: £nil).  At the year-end there were no outstanding 
balances. 
 
During the year transacƟons with Wolverhampton Wanderers FC, where John Gough declared an interest, included 
purchases totalling £nil (2023: £88,966) and sales totalling £5,029 (2023: £18,826).  Balances on the sales ledger at 
31 July 2024 totalled £nil (2023: £596). 
 
During the year transacƟons with The Way, where Louise Fall, Malcolm Cowgill, Peter Merry and John Gough 
declared an interest, included purchases totalling £25,000 (2023: £nil) and sales totalling £505 (2023: £1,325).  At 
the year-end balances on the purchase ledger totalled £nil (2023: £nil) and sales ledger totalled £nil (2023: £nil). 
 
During the year transacƟons with Thompson Audio Visual CommunicaƟons Ltd, where ScoƩ Thompson declared 
an interest, included purchases totalling £93,956 (2023: £nil).  Balances on the purchase ledger at 31 July 2023 
totalled £46,798 (2023: £nil). 
 
Included in amounts owed by group undertakings, is a debtor balance of £32,000 (2023: £29,000) owing from City 
of Wolverhampton College Enterprises Limited, a 100% wholly owned subsidiary of City of Wolverhampton College. 
 
27 Write offs, losses, guarantees, leƩers of comfort, compensaƟon. 
 

(a) Write offs and losses. 
During the year the board approved the write off of bad debts totalling £28,714.  Including within this was 
one debt totalling £5,000.  All debts were pursued in line with the College’s Financial RegulaƟons and only 
when all opƟons had been exhausted, including legal advice, did the College conclude that the debts were 
irrecoverable. 

(b) Guarantees, leƩers of comfort and indemniƟes. 
The College has a 100% owned subsidiary company (City of Wolverhampton College Enterprises Limited) 
to which it provides a leƩer of comfort to provide financial and non-financial support as the company 
requires, to enable it to meet its current liabiliƟes as and when they fall due. 

(c) CompensaƟon payments and ex-graƟa payments. 
The College has not made any compensaƟon or ex-graƟa payments during the year. 

 


